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HIGHLIGHTS
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Operating revenues $454 million

Strong recovery from Global Financial Crisis

$18.7 million profit after tax

New OneSteel 5-year contract

BlueScope contract commences

Acquired Pacific Transport

Announces Regal acquisition
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On behalf of the Board of K&S Corporation 
Limited, I am once again pleased to present the
Company’s Annual Report.

It has been a year of solid recovery and strong 
performance from the business.  Demand for logistics
and transport services is recovering to pre Global 
Financial Crisis (GFC) levels.  

Since the end of the financial year we have seen a
weakening of activity in the retail sector.

The 2009/10 financial year has seen another sound 
result with profit after tax of $18.7 million, up 3.0% 
on the previous year.  This result is further improved
when non trading items from the previous year are
excluded showing underlying growth in earnings 
of 7.6%.  

Operating revenue for the year was $454.3 million, 
an increase of 3.2% on the previous year.  

This reflected a very strong second half performance
given that first half operating revenues were 
$217.4 million.

In January 2010 we acquired the business of Pacific
Transport which has contributed to our second half
revenue growth.

Strong organic growth was achieved in our steel 
business with both OneSteel and BlueScope Steel 
increasing activity levels.

TONY JOHNSON CHAIRMAN

Earnings per share were 26.5 cents per share.

Our gearing remained in a strong position at 
39.0% following the Pacific Transport acquisition.

The 2009/10 financial year was significant in 
that we successfully renewed our contracts with 
OneSteel and Laminex for a further 5 years.  
We also were successful in gaining contracts with
both BlueScope and Chep for the first time.

The acquisition of Pacific Transport which is 
focussed on the Perth to Broome and Derby regions
of Western Australia will enable us to target the oil,
gas and resource sectors. 

We expect that these contracts and our recent 
acquisition will underpin our growth for the 
coming year.

We have declared a fully franked final dividend 
of 7.0 cents per share (last year 5.0 cents per share).
This follows the interim dividend of 7.0 cents per
share paid in March 2010, making a total dividend
of 14.0 cents fully franked for the year. The final 
dividend will be paid on 29 October 2010, (the date
for determining entitlements is 15 October 2010).

CHAIRMAN’SOVERVIEW

K & S  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D
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As announced on the 8th July K&S acquired the 
business of Perth based Regal Transport Group.

Regal Transport Group was formed in March 2009
with the merger of N&L Transport and Strategic
Transport.

Regal Transport Group is primarily focussed on the
Perth to Pilbara region with depots in Perth, Port 
Hedland, Newman and Karratha.  The business 
generates annual revenue in excess of $50 million 
and employs over 120 people with the acquisition
funded with both debt and equity components. 
The transaction was earnings per share accretive 
immediately.

Our strategic direction remains unchanged.  We are
focused to grow the business through carefully 
targeted acquisitions, organic growth from existing
customers and to competitively win new tenders 
that deliver benefits to Shareholders.

We believe that we are well placed as we start the
new financial year.

On behalf of the Board I would like to thank all our
customers, suppliers and employees who have 
contributed to our continuing success.  In particular, 
I would like to thank and acknowledge our 
Senior Management Team led by Legh Winser that 
have once again delivered a strong result in 
difficult circumstances.

Tony Johnson
Chairman

3

The Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) will  once
again be part of the October 2010 dividend. The DRP
will apply in respect of the fully franked final dividend
of 7.0 cents payable on 29 October 2010.

The terms of the DRP will remain unchanged with
issue price under the DRP based on the weighted 
average trading price of K&S shares in the five 
business days ending on 15 October 2010 (the record
date of the final dividend), less a discount of 2.5%.    

Following encouragement from Shareholders we 
were pleased to introduce a Share Purchase Plan (SPP)
in April 2010 which was finalised in May 2010, 
enabling eligible K&S Shareholders to subscribe for 
up to $15,000 worth of K&S ordinary shares.

The offer price of $2.56 per new share represented 
a discount of 10% to the volume weighted average
price of K&S shares over the five trading days prior 
to the announcement of the SPP on 12 April 2010.

In total 485 Shareholders participated in the offer,
with applications for $4.1 million of new fully paid
K&S ordinary shares received.

A total of 1.618 million new shares were issued 
on 18 May 2010.  Proceeds from the offer will be
used to fund:

• The development of the new Perth 
Freight Terminal;

• The repayment of part of the Company’s 
borrowing in relation to the recent acquisition 
of Pacific Transport;

• Future expansion initiatives;

• General working capital.
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2010 2009 % movement

Operating revenue $m 454.3 441.0 3.0 

Operating profit before interest, tax    $m 51.7 50.2 2.9
and depreciation
Operating profit before interest and tax    $m 31.5 30.4 3.7
Operating profit before tax $m 26.3 25.0 5.3
Operating profit after tax $m 18.7 18.2 3.2
Dividends paid $m 8.5 10.4 (18.3)

Total assets $m 326.1 287.6 13.4
Net borrowings $m 52.3 45.5 14.9
Shareholders’ funds $m 179.1 156.2 14.6
Depreciation and amortisation $m 20.1 19.9 1.3

Earnings per share cents 26.5 26.1 1.5
Dividends per share cents 14.0 12.0 16.7
Net tangible assets per share $ 1.85 1.87 (1.1)
Cash flow per share $ 0.50 0.56 (10.7)

Return on Shareholders’ funds % 10.5 11.6 (9.5)
Gearing % 39.0 34.8 12.1
Lost time injuries 19.0 18.0 5.6
Lost time injuries frequency rate % 5.0 5.0 -

OVERVIEW

FINANCIAL

K & S  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D

A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 0



The 2009/10 financial year has been one of 
gradual recovery from the impact of the Global 
Financial Crisis (GFC).

After a disappointing first quarter of the year, we 
enjoyed a strong turnaround in the following 
three quarters as demand for logistics and transport
services improved.

Operating revenue for the year was $454.3 million,
after first half earnings of $217.4 million.  The full 
year revenue result compares with $441.0 million for
the 2008/09 financial year.

Key areas of improvement were in the steel business,
where we won significant new business from
BlueScope as well as successfully renegotiating 
contracts and winning new business from OneSteel.

The acquisition of Pacific Transport was completed 
in January as part of our strategy to expand into 
Western Australia’s rapidly developing oil and 
gas resources in the state’s Far North West. 
The acquisition was earnings per share accretive
immediately.

Our Projects Services division, created in May 2009
has helped identify a number of opportunities in this
area and in June 2010 secured a contract to provide
linehaul support to Darwin and Broome for the
French exploration company Total E&P Australia.

We believe the oil, gas and related resource sectors
will provide good opportunities for growth in coming
years and are areas into which we are devoting 
considerable effort.

Our transportation business in traditional areas, 
including bulk sugar, steel and steel piping, 
timber and food transport returned to, or close to,
pre-GFC levels.

K&S Operations

We successfully rolled over our contract with 
OneSteel for a further five years on 1 January 2010,
and were awarded additional business relating to the
cartage of product from OneSteel’s manufacturing
sites at Acacia Ridge, Newcastle, Somerton 
and Sunshine.

The agreement complements contracts we won with
BlueScope Steel to transport significant volumes 
from BlueScope’s Westernport (VIC) and Port Kembla
(NSW) manufacturing sites into South Australia and
Queensland from 1 July 2009.

LEGH WINSER MANAGING DIRECTOR

MANAGING
DIRECTOR’SREPORT
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Together, these contracts make K&S the pre-eminent
supplier of transport and logistics services for the 
steel business in Australia and position the company
well to benefit from any rebound in steel volumes 
as the domestic economy recovers.

Key contracts include those for Laminex and Fosters.

The Laminex contract is an extension to the business
already being undertaken.

Other new or extended contracts include:

• Murray Goulburn – greater allocation 
for the transport of milk powder volumes 
from Melbourne.

• Fosters – re-signed the contract to transport beer
between Queensland and New South Wales.

• Laminex – won a new 5-year contract for 
national transportation of product.

• Pacific Steel – won a 12-month extension to 
its Australian transport business.

• Chep – K&S Freighters was awarded parcels of 
the linehaul for Chep.  This is additional to 
the local distribution business won by DTM in 
Western Australia and New South Wales. 

• Orrcon Steel – won a five year contract to 
transport steel pipe and tubing between 
Brisbane, Sydney, Melbourne and Adelaide. 

We will extend our Sydney operations into a new 
facility at Enfield during 2010/11.

This facility, over two adjoining properties will 
be shared with DTM, while warehousing will also be 
provided for Norske Skog.

We have enjoyed a strong recovery in our linehaul 
business as the economy improved.

The bulk business is recovering ground as the impact
of the GFC recedes. 

In particular, transportation for Queensland Magnesia
improved as plants that had been running for one
shift, five days a week during the downturn returning
to two shift, seven day a week operations.

Improved crop size and an uninterrupted crushing
season have also resulted in Bundaberg Sugar 
operations performing strongly.

The development of desalination and water projects
across Australia is a major focus for us.

The company is servicing major contracts including
desalination plants in Perth, Adelaide and Melbourne
and other water projects in Geelong, Sydney, 
Newcastle, Townsville, Canberra and Alice Springs.

The GM Holden contract in South Australia to store
and transport steel coil into its Elizabeth plant went 
to tender and we were successful, re-signing for an 
additional three years.

Volumes are expected to improve as the economy
continues to recover from the GFC.

Norske Skog business has been solid.  We will be 
providing warehousing for Norske Skog at its 
new Enfield facility in Sydney when it opens later 
this year.

The development of a new rail facility on Pacific 
National land in Perth is due to be completed 
by December 2010.  This development was part of a 
five-year contract we signed with Pacific National 
last year for its rail linehaul services.

K&S Operations continued

MANAGING
DIRECTOR’SREPORT
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Our Bunbury operations, which has a strong focus 
on the timber industry in Western Australia has 
largely recovered from the impact of the GFC with
the volume of timber now back to historical levels.

DTM

The performance of DTM has been extremely 
positive, with highlights being the re-signing of major
customers Air Liquide Australia, CSR Bradfords, ARC
and new contracts with OneSteel and Chep.

The contract with pallet and container pooling group,
Chep, covers local operations in New South Wales
and Western Australia and is a significant win in a very
competitive market segment.

Operations with OneSteel expanded rapidly when 
a contract to carry steel products from the Geelong,
Dandenong, Scoresby and Newcastle sites was
awarded at short notice. 

DTM was able to begin servicing the contract within
nine days of the award, underlying our ability to 
rapidly respond to client needs.  The contract involves
the use of some 30 specialist vehicles, including steel
product specific trailers.

Air Liquide contracts in South Australia, Victoria 
and New South Wales were renewed while the oil 
and lubricant carrying for BP continues strongly. 

In 2008/09, DTM’s fleet received strong external 
endorsement following an independent audit 
undertaken by BP London.

A similar audit this year gave the same endorsement
to DTM’s IT network.

During the next 12 months, the DTM software will 
undergo a major upgrade with a new IT platform 
designed to service the needs of the company into 
the future and offer further expanded customer 
service initiatives.

New Zealand

Conditions in New Zealand throughout 2009/10 were
tough, but began easing in the fourth quarter of the
year as the New Zealand economy began to recover.

The forestry industry in particular has shown strong
signs of recovery, in part boosted by the industry’s 
decision to concentrate timber exports into the Asian
market rather than the United States.  While logging
volumes were down in the first nine months 
of the year, they have shown good growth in the
fourth quarter.

We have renewed the contract in the timber industry.
Late in the year, we were also successful in gaining
new business to carry paper for Norske Skog 
to Auckland and now are the single supplier in the 
South Island.  This contract will commence in the first 
quarter of 2010/11 financial year. 
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During the past year, we were able to extend our 
contract to carry dairy products for Fonterra in the
South Island, but the drought in New Zealand has 
impacted on export volumes.

However an early start to the kiwi fruit crop is likely 
to result in improved returns from this sector in the
next financial year.

Generally, indications are positive for a strong 
recovery in 2010/11.

Environment

Reporting under the National Greenhouse and Energy
Reporting Act (NGER) and the Energy Efficiency 
Opportunity Program (EEOP) were completed and
submitted in October and December 2009.

The NGER reporting was introduced as part of 
the eventual development of an emissions trading
scheme, while the EEOP continues and requires 
companies to complete energy savings assessments
for up to 80% of total energy use to the Federal 
Government by the end of 2011.

The Australian Greenhouse Challenge ceased to 
operate after June 2009.

Industry Representation

We remain involved in a number of industry forums, 
including the Australian Trucking Association Council,
where it is represented on the Safety Committee, the
Skills and Workforce Committee and the Transport
Economics Committee.

Particular concerns have included speed management
and the chain of responsibility, rest areas and fitness
for work.

We have also been involved in discussions 
surrounding the establishment of a single national
heavy vehicle regulator to be based in Queensland.  

The establishment of the heavy vehicle regulator was
announced in February 2010.

When established, the regulator will be responsible 
for putting in place nationwide rules and regulations
for all vehicles over 4.5 tonnes, including 
inspection standards, safe driving hours, mass limits
and registration.

One of the major issues currently being discussed is
the road transport industry proposal of an enhanced
driver licensing scheme, which if adopted, could 
lead to the development of a career path for heavy
vehicle drivers.

We also share industry concerns about planned 
increases in registration fees, in particular for high
productivity vehicles such as B-doubles. 

Other concerns include Government proposals to 
introduce a future costly mass-distance-location
charging model with additional charges for routes
which are shared by both road and rail transport
modes.  We believe these proposals are problematic
and a fuel-based charge advocated by the road 
transport industry would be a more efficient way of
achieving the same result.

Information Technology

Consolidation of the telecommunications framework
for K&S was completed in December 2009 with all
fixed, mobile and data networks brought together
under a single network provider.

The new arrangements are forecast to provide 
significant savings over the three years of the 
agreement, as well as improve service delivery.

MANAGING
DIRECTOR’SREPORT
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New Zealand continued
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Internet services were also reviewed, with server 
consolidation and data recovery processes 
upgraded, significantly reducing costs and improving
efficiency.  New server technology is now being 
introduced which will give us a strong platform for 
future growth.

Our transport management system, Panorama, 
was rolled out to all road transport divisions across 
Australia with deployment of the system across 
K&S’ rail and sea operations continuing.  Panorama 
provides us with a common transport management
system across all sites as well providing customers
with improved ordering procedures and better track
and trace capabilities.

Occupational Health & Safety

We have continued our strong focus on managing 
injury prevention, claims and the rehabilitation of 
injured employees, with a continuing focus on lost
time frequency rates. 

This continuous improvement has been driven by
strong leadership from the Managing Director and 
Executive Managers in close monitoring of the 
OHS plan.

Internal audits into K&S’ prevention, claims and 
rehabilitation management systems found the 
company to be compliant with both the OHS and
SRC Act and having appropriate systems in place to
meet its conditions of license as a self insurer 
under the Commonwealth OH&S and Workers’ 
Compensation Scheme.

Our ongoing focus on safety systems, internal and 
external indicators and the commitment to safety
awareness is reflected in the improving prevention
and return-to-work performance. 

As with previous years, manual handling, hazard 
identification and risk assessment have been key 
priorities, with particular focus on risk assessments
carried out at major customer sites.

Key initiatives undertaken during the year to raise 
the safety profile and maintain the strong focus on
improving safety culture included:

• Continued review and implementation of the 
K&S National OHS Plan, which focuses on high
risk injury types and incorporates business-wide
performance targets.

• An internal monthly safety theme program
through training awareness programs at toolbox
meetings and observation walks involving 
employees to address or reinforce these issues 
in their workplace.

• An internal monthly campaign through toolbox
meetings to raise awareness of employee health
and wellbeing issues to assist employees to stay 
fit and healthy when performing their tasks.

• Reviewed and updated injury prevention and
management policies and procedures to ensure
ongoing compliance with legislation, case law
and jurisdictional requirements.
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• Maintained the lost time frequency rate at an all
time low of 5 (see graph next page).

• Delivered a national roadshow training 
program to all managers and supervisors in risk
management principles that directly related to
key OHS and compliance topics as well as legal
obligation and injury management.

• Set safety targets and cascaded these targets to
all levels of the organisation and individuals.

• Tracked performance against these targets
monthly to identify areas of improvement or 
areas that require specific focus.

• Reviewed all policies and consultation structures
across the organisation to ensure compliance 
and the development of the company Health 
and Safety Management Arrangements.

• Developed a driver induction handbook for all
subcontractor drivers engaged by K&S.

We have implemented an effective continuous 
improvement framework aimed at improving 
prevention, claims management and rehabilitation
practices.  This framework, together with the 
key initiatives undertaken during the year has 
contributed to the improved performance achieved
during 2009/10.

Safety leadership and ongoing integration of safety
into daily operating systems continues to be a 
priority to reduce risk and injuries to our employees.

Human Resources

During 2009, Human Resource Management endured
the impacts of the economic climate and significant
industrial relations changes with outstanding results. 

Throughout this challenging period we maintained
strong commitment from an aligned senior 
leadership team in achieving these positive outcomes. 

We also maintained stable employment conditions
across the Group by effective labour utilisation whilst
delivering quality service to our customers.

During the first half of the year, wage restraint 
strategies were imposed to support the safeguarding
of permanent employment.  Within the recovery 
period, the commitment and effort of employees was
recognised by fair and reasonable wage outcomes. 

The Company continues its strong focus on 
workplace health and safety and road law 
compliance.  This has involved the ongoing review 
of training and development needs.  It has also 
involved positive partnering projects with key 
customers and industry associations to develop and 
implement best practice standards. 

The industrial relations system has seen two 
significant changes during this period with the 
transition to the Fair Work Act (FWA) and the 
modernisation of industry based awards.

The change with FWA has provided the framework 
for a more restrictive approach to workplace 
agreement making and fundamental employee/ 
employer relationships during this process.

To support the application of key business strategy
and change, HR has integrated policy and processes 
to provide direction and support operations in the 
key areas of people management, safety, compliance
and industrial relations.

MANAGING
DIRECTOR’SREPORT
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Occupational Health & Safety continued
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Compliance

New speed compliance laws developed by the 
National Transport Commission for the heavy vehicle
industry continued to be introduced across Australia
during 2009/10.

The NTC speeding laws follow the introduction 
of driver fatigue laws which came into effect in 
September 2008.

We held a series of training programs to ensure all
staff are aware of their responsibilities under the 
new legislation.

We have continued with accreditation to ISO 9001.  
K&S has also maintained accreditation under the 
National Heavy Vehicle Accreditation Scheme for 
mass management and fatigue and industry 
accreditation in the form of TruckSafe, WA Heavy 
Vehicle Accreditation and HACCP (food safety) 
accreditation.

The Year Ahead

We will continue to implement a number of 
expansion initiatives aimed mainly at the oil, gas and
resource sectors in Western Australia.

In conclusion, I extend my thanks to our customers
for their business and support, and, management 
and employees for their commitment to the business.

Legh Winser
Managing Director
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The Directors of the Company in office at the date 
of this report, together with particulars of their 
qualifications, experience and special responsibilities,
are set out below.

Tony Johnson Chairman

Age 63, Director since 1986 
Tony Johnson  BA, FAICD, LLB, LLM (Companies & 

Securities), is a lawyer and an accredited mediator.
Tony is Chairman of the national law firm Johnson
Winter & Slattery.  He has worked extensively in the
corporate advisory and commercial disputes area.  

Mr Johnson is also Chairman of AA Scott Pty Ltd,
listed entity Scott Corporation Limited, a Director 
of Adelaide Community Healthcare Alliance and 
Cepahlon Australia Pty Ltd.

Member of:
• Environmental Committee (Chairman)

• Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Legh Winser Managing Director

Age 62, Director since December 1999
Legh Winser, has more than 38 years experience in 
the transport industry.  Prior to his appointment as
Managing Director in January 1998 he previously 
held other Executive positions within the Company.

Member of:
• Nomination and Remuneration Committee
• Environmental Committee

Greg Boulton  AM Deputy Chairman

Age 60, Director since January 1996
Greg Boulton  BA(Accountancy), FCA, FCPA, FAICD

is Chairman of private equity fund Paragon Equity 
Limited, Chairman of Southern Gold Limited, 
Director of Statewide Superannuation and holds
board positions on a number of privately owned 
companies.  He has over 30 years experience in 
the transport industry.

Member of:
• Audit Committee
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Richard Nicholson

Age 67, Director since 1986
Richard Nicholson  ACA, is a Chartered Accountant 
in public practice.  He was previously the Company 
Secretary and Finance Officer of the Scott Group of
Companies and is a former Non-Executive Director 
of that Group.

Member of:
• Nomination and Remuneration Committee

(Chairman)

Bruce Grubb

Age 60, Director since 2007
Bruce Grubb has over 31 years experience in the
transport industry and is the Chief Executive and 
Executive Director of Scott’s Transport Industries 
Pty Ltd.  Mr Grubb is also a Non-Executive Director 
of the listed entity Scott Corporation Limited.  
Mr Grubb is also a Director of Dangerous Goods 
Logistics Pty Ltd.

Member of:
• Environmental Committee 

Ray Smith

Age 63, Director since 2008
Ray Smith FCPA, FAICD, Dip Com was Chief Financial 
Officer of Smorgon Steel Group for 11 years.  
During that period Smorgon Steel Group was at the 
forefront of the rationalisation of the Australian Steel
Industry.  Mr Smith is a Director of listed entities
WHK Group Ltd and Willmott Forests Ltd.  Mr Smith
is a trustee of the Melbourne and Olympic Park
Trusts.  Mr Smith brings a wealth of corporate 
and financial experience in the areas of strategy, 
acquisitions, treasury and capital raising. 

Member of:
• Audit Committee  (Chairman)

Secretary

Chris Bright BEc, LLB, Grad Dip CSPM, FCIS 

Secretary since 2005

Chris Bright has held the position of Group Legal
Counsel for 8 years.  Mr Bright was admitted as a 
solicitor in South Australia in 1997.  He also has 
experience working in private practice in Adelaide
principally in commercial dispute resolution.
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FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIALHISTORY

($A Millions unless 
otherwise indicated) 2010 Variation 2009 2008 2007 2006

%

Group Revenue 454.3 3.0 441.0 466.1 418.0 367.5

Operating Profit before
Individually Significant  
Items, Interest and Tax 32.5 16.5 27.9 33.4 28.5 29.3

Individually Significant Items & Fraud (1.0) 2.5 - 0.8 0.7

Operating Profit before 
Interest and Income Tax 31.5 3.7 30.4 33.4 29.3 29.9

Interest Expense 5.2 (1.9) 5.3 5.4 5.0 3.8

Profit Before Tax 26.3 5.3 25.0 28.0 24.3 26.2

Income Tax Expense 7.6 10.5 6.9 8.3 7.3 7.8

Operating Profit after Tax 18.7 3.2 18.2 19.7 17.0 18.4

Earnings per
Ordinary Share (cents) 26.5 1.5 26.1 28.6 25.3 28.0

Dividends per Share (cents) 14.0 16.7 12.0 16.0 14.0 14.0

Return on Shareholders’ Funds 10.5% (9.5) 11.6% 13.4% 12.5% 17.8%

Paid Up Capital 64.5 12.4 57.4 55.4 52.8 44.5

Shareholders’ Funds 179.1 14.6 156.2 146.5 136.1 103.3

Total Assets 326.1 13.4 287.6 297.4 281.2 217.1

Net Tangible Assets 
(book value) per Share $1.85 (1.1) $1.87 $1.76 $1.68 $1.45 
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The Directors’ present their report, together 
with the consolidated financial report of 
K&S Corporation Limited ("the Company") and 
the consolidated entity, for the year ended 
30 June 2010 and the Auditors’ Report thereon.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the consolidated entity 
during the course of the financial year were transport
and logistics, contract management, warehousing 
and distribution, and fuel distribution.

There were no significant changes in the nature 
of the activities of the consolidated entity during 
the year.

Operating and Financial Review

The consolidated profit for the year attributable 
to the members of K&S Corporation Limited is shown
above, along with comparative results for 2009.

The 2009/10 financial year has seen the demand for
logistics and transport services recover to near their
pre Global Financial Crisis levels. 

The financial year started with first quarter 
demand being affected by the impact of the Global
Financial Crisis and then recovering strongly as 
the year unfolded.

Operating revenue for the year was $454.3 million, 
an increase of 3.0% on the previous year. 

This reflected very strong second half operating 
revenue of $236.9 million.

Strong organic growth was achieved in our steel 
business with both OneSteel and BlueScope increasing
their activity levels.  In January 2010, we acquired the
business of Pacific Transport which has contributed 
to our second half revenue growth. 

Operating profit before tax was $26.3 million 
which was an increase of $1.3 million on the prior
year result.

The normalised profit after tax was up 18.5%.

Earnings per share were 26.5 cents per share.

Our gearing remains in a strong position at 39.0%.

The 2009/10 financial year was significant in that 
we successfully renewed our contracts with OneSteel
and Laminex for a further 5 years.  We also were 
successful in gaining contracts with both BlueScope
and Chep for the first time.

The acquisition of Pacific Transport, which is focused
on the Perth to Broome and Derby regions of 
Western Australia, will enable us to target the oil, gas
and resource sectors.

Our strategy has been, and continues to be, to grow
the business through carefully targeted acquisitions,
organic growth and to competitively win new tenders
that deliver benefits to our Shareholders.

Financial overview 2010 2009 % movement

Operating revenue $m 454.3 441.0 3.0 
Operating profit after tax $m 18.7 18.2 3.2
Net borrowings $m 52.3 45.5 14.9
Shareholders’ funds $m 179.1 156.2 14.6
Earnings per share (basic) cents 26.5 26.1 1.5
Dividends per share cents 14.0 12.0 16.7
Net tangible assets per share $ 1.85 1.87 (1.1)
Cash flow per share $ 0.50 0.56 (10.7)
Return on Shareholders’ funds % 10.5 11.6 (9.5)
Gearing % 39.0 34.8 12.1
Lost time injuries 19.0 18.0 5.6
Lost time injuries frequency rate % 5.0 5.0 -

DIRECTORS’REPORT
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A fully franked final dividend of 7.0 cents per share
(last year 5.0 cents per share) has been declared by
the Directors.  This follows the interim fully franked
dividend of 7.0 cents per share paid in March 2010,
making the total dividend of 14 cents per share for
the year, representing a payout ratio of 53.9% of
earnings.  This final dividend has not been provided
for in the accounts as it was declared after balance
date on 24 August 2010.  This is in accordance 
with the Accounting Standard AASB 137 “Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”.

The final dividend will be paid on 29 October 2010
(the date for determining entitlements is 15 October
2010).  The Company’s Dividend Reinvestment 
Plan (DRP) will once again apply to the October 
2010 dividend.  The terms of the DRP will remain 
unchanged, with the issue price under the DRP 
based on the weighted average trading price of K&S
shares in the five business days ending on 15 October
2010 (the record date of the final dividend), less a 
discount of 2.5%.)

We will continue to be innovative in taking the 
Company forward while mindful of risks, particularly
given the state of the credit markets and the general
economic outlook.

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs

Significant changes in the state of affairs of the 
consolidated entity during the financial year were 
as follows:

On 13 January 2010, K&S Corporation Limited 
announced that it had acquired the business of Pacific
Transport (“Pacific”).  Pacific is focused on the Perth 
to Broome and Derby regions of Western Australia 
and will enable us to target the oil, gas and resource 
sectors.  At the time of acquisition, Pacific generated
$22 million in annual revenues and employed over 
90 people. 

K&S Corporation Limited announced a Share 
Purchase Plan (SPP) in April 2010 which was finalised 
in May 2010, enabling eligible K&S Shareholders 
to subscribe for up to $15,000 worth of K&S 
ordinary shares.  The offer price of $2.56 per new
share represented a discount of 10% to the 
weighted average price of K&S shares over the five
trading days prior to the announcement of the SPP 
on 12 April 2010.  

In total, 485 Shareholders participated in the offer,
with applications for $4.1 million of new fully paid
K&S ordinary shares received.  A total of 1,618,199
new shares were issued on 18 May 2010.

The proceeds from the offer will be used to fund:

• The development of the new Perth 
Freight Terminal;

• The repayment of part of the Company’s 
borrowings in relation to the recent acquisition 
of Pacific Transport;

• Future expansion initiatives; and

• General working capital.

Environmental Regulation 
and Performance

The consolidated entity’s operations are subject 
to environmental regulations under both 
Commonwealth and State Legislation in relation to its
transport and storage business and its fuel business.

The consolidated entity has a Board Committee,
which monitors compliance with environmental 
regulations.  The Directors are not aware of any 
significant breaches during the period covered by 
this report.
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Climate Change

Reporting under the National Greenhouse and Energy
Reporting Act (NGER) and the Energy Efficiency 
Opportunity Program (EEOP) were completed and
submitted in October and December 2009.

The NGER reporting was introduced as part of 
the eventual development of an emissions trading
scheme, while the EEOP continues and requires 
companies to complete energy savings assessments
for up to 80% of total energy use to the Federal 
Government by the end of 2011.

The Australian Greenhouse Challenge ceased to 
operate after June 2009.

Transport and Warehousing

The transport and warehousing business is subject 
to the Dangerous Goods Acts in Commonwealth 
and State Legislation.  The consolidated entity 
monitors performance and recorded a number of
minor incidents and no serious incidents during 
the year.

Fuel

The fuel business is subject to the South Australian 
Environmental Protection Act 1993 and the 
South Australian Dangerous Substances Act 1979.  
The consolidated entity monitors performance and
recorded a number of minor fuel related incidents 
during the year.  In all cases, corrective actions have
been taken.

Dividends

Dividends paid or declared by the Company 
to members since the end of the previous financial
year were:

1 A final fully franked ordinary dividend (taxed 
to 30%) of 5 cents per share amounting to
$3,510,011 in respect of the year ended 
30 June 2009 was declared on 25 August 2009
and paid on 30 October 2009; 

2 A fully franked preference dividend (taxed 
to 30%) of 4 cents per share amounting to 
$4,800 in respect of the year ended 
30 June 2009 was declared on 25 August 2009
and paid on 30 October 2009.

An interim fully franked ordinary dividend (taxed 
to 30%) of 7.0 cents per share in respect of the 
year ended 30 June 2010 was declared on 
23 February 2010 and paid on 31 March 2010 
amounting to $4,956,599.

The final dividend declared by the Directors of 
the Company on 24 August 2010 and payable 
on 29 October 2010 in respect of the year ended 
30 June 2010 comprises:

1 A fully franked ordinary dividend (taxed to 30%) of
7.0 cents per share amounting to $5,147,975; and

2 A fully franked preference dividend (taxed to 
30%) of 4.0 cents per share amounting to $4,800.
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The preference share dividends are included as 
interest expense in determining Net Profit. 

Dividends paid to Shareholders

Events Subsequent to Balance Date

On 8 July 2010, K&S Corporation Limited acquired
Perth based Regal Transport Group (“Regal”).  

The Regal Transport Group was formed in March
2009 with the merger of N&L Transport and 
Strategic Transport Services Pty Ltd.  At the time of 
acquisition, Regal generated annual revenues of 
$50 million and employed over 120 people.  
The Regal acquisition will extend the footprint
achieved by the Pacific Transport acquisition to the 
oil, gas and resource sectors of Western Australia.  
Details of the acquisition are disclosed in Note 30.

On 24 August 2010, the Directors of K&S Corporation
Limited declared a final dividend on ordinary shares in
respect of the 2010 financial year.  The total amount
of the dividend is $5,147,975, which represents a
fully franked dividend of 7.0 cents per share.  

The dividend is payable on 29 October 2010 and has
not been provided for in the 30 June 2010 financial
statements.  

The Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) will apply to
the final dividend and the issue price for shares under
the DRP will be based on the weighted average 
trading price of K&S shares in the five business days
ending on 15 October 2010 (the record date of the
final dividend), less a discount of 2.5%.   

Other than the matters above, there has not arisen 
in the interval between the end of the financial year
and the date of this report any item, transaction or
event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the
opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect 
significantly the operations of the consolidated entity,
the results of those operations, or the state of affairs
of the consolidated entity in future financial years.

Likely Developments

It is anticipated that the consolidated entity will 
continue to expand transport and logistics operations
during the next financial year by further extending 
its services throughout Australia and adopting the 
latest technology in the industry to contain costs and
enhance the services offered to customers.

General Disclosures

K&S Corporation Limited is a company limited by
shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia.
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Board of Directors

Back row l to r : 

Bruce Grubb, 

Ray Smith, 

Richard Nicholson, 

Chris Bright (Secretary)

Front row l to r : 

Greg Boulton, 

Tony Johnson, 

Legh Winser

Directors

The Directors of the Company in office at any time
during or since the end of the financial year are:

Tony Johnson (Non-executive Chairman) Richard Nicholson
Legh Winser (Managing Director) Bruce Grubb
Greg Boulton (Deputy Chairman) Ray Smith

Secretary – Chris Bright  BEc, LLB, Grad Dip CSPM, FCIS

With the exception of Mr Winser, all Directors are
Non-Executive Directors.  Particulars of Directors’
qualifications, experience, special responsibilities 
and other relevant Directorships are on pages 12 
and 13 of the Annual Report.

Directors’ Interests

The beneficial interest of each Director in their own
name in the share capital of the Company shown 
in the Register of Directors' Shareholdings as at the
date of this report is:

Ordinary Shares
Mr R Nicholson 9,137
Mr B Grubb 14,600
Mr L Winser 345,339

Directors of the Company have relevant interests in
additional shares as follows:

Ordinary Shares
Mr G Boulton 150,258
Mr T Johnson 210,088
Mr L Winser 115,132
Mr R Smith 17,819
Mr R Nicholson 12,505
Mr B Grubb 92,717
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in addition to the eleven regular meetings, there 
were seven other special meetings of Directors held
during the course of the year.

Indemnification and Insurance of 
Directors and Officers

Indemnification

The Company indemnifies current and former 
Directors, Executive Officers and the Secretaries of 
the Company and its controlled entities against 
all liabilities, costs and expenses to another person 
(other than the Company or a related body 
corporate) to the maximum extent permitted by 
law that may arise from their position as Directors, 
Executive Officers and Secretaries of the Company
and its controlled entities, except where the liability
arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith.

Insurance Premiums

Since the end of the previous financial year, the 
Company has paid insurance premiums of $47,700 
in respect of Directors and Officers’ Liability insurance

contracts for current and former officers, including 
Directors, Executive Officers and the Secretaries of 
the Company and its controlled entities.  

The insurance premiums relate to:

• Costs and expenses incurred by the relevant 
officers in successfully defending proceedings,
whether civil or criminal;

• Other liabilities that may arise from their 
position, with the exception of conduct 
involving a wilful breach of duty or position 
to gain a personal advantage.

The officers of the Company covered by the policy 
include the current Directors; T Johnson, G Boulton, 
R Nicholson, R Smith, B Grubb and L Winser.  

Other officers covered by the contract are Executive
Officers and the Secretaries of the Company and 
Directors and the Secretaries of controlled entities
(who are not also Directors of the Company), 
General Managers and other Executive Officers of
controlled entities.
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Directors’ Meetings

The number of Directors' meetings (including meetings of Committees of Directors) and number of 
meetings attended by each of the Directors of the Company during the financial year were:

Director                 Directors’ Meetings            Audit Committee               Nomination and                 Environmental
Meetings                     Remuneration          Committee Meetings

Committee Meetings
No. attended  No. held  No. attended  No. held  No. attended No. held  No. attended No. held 

Mr T Johnson 11 11 - - 3 3 4 4

Mr G Boulton 11 11 4 4 - - - -

Mr R Smith 11 11 4 4 - - - -

Mr B Grubb 11 11 - - - - 4 4

Mr R Nicholson 11 11 - - 3 3 - -

Mr L Winser 11 11 - - 3 3 4 4
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Tax Consolidation

Effective 1 July 2002, for the purposes of income 
taxation, K&S Corporation Limited and its domestic
based 100% owned subsidiaries formed a tax 
consolidated group.  Members of the Group entered
into a tax sharing arrangement in order to allocate 
income tax expense to the wholly owned subsidiaries
on a pro-rata basis.  In addition, the agreement 
provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities 
between the entities should the head entity default 
on its tax payment obligations.

Corporate Governance

In recognising the need for the highest standards of
corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors
of K&S Corporation Limited support the principles 
of corporate governance.  The Company’s Corporate
Governance Statement commences on page 26 of 
the Annual Report.

Rounding Off

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class
Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance
with that Class Order, amounts in the Financial Report
and Directors’ Report have been rounded off to the
nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Auditor Independence and 
Non-Audit Services

The entity’s Auditor, Ernst & Young have provided 
the economic entity with an Auditors’ Independence
Declaration which is on page 98 of this report.

Non-audit Services

The following non-audit services were provided by
the entity’s Auditor, Ernst & Young.  The Directors 
are satisfied that the provision of non-audit 
services is compatible with the general standard 
of independence for auditors imposed by the 
Corporations Act.  The nature and scope of each type
of non-audit service provided means that auditor 
independence was not compromised.

Ernst & Young received or are due to receive 
the following amounts for the provision of 
non-audit services:  

GST review  $10,000

Remuneration Report (audited)

This remuneration report outlines the Director and 
Executive remuneration arrangements of the 
Company and the Group in accordance with the 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its
Regulations.  For the purposes of this report, Key
Management Personnel (KMP) of the Group are 
defined as those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the major activities of the Company and the Group,
directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether
executive or otherwise) of the parent company, and
includes the five executives in the Group receiving 
the highest remuneration.

For the purposes of this report, the term executive 
encompasses the Managing Director, Senior 
Executives, General Managers and Secretaries of 
the Parent and the Group.  Details of the Key 
Management Personnel (including the five executives
in the Group receiving the highest remuneration) are:

i) Directors
Mr T Johnson Non-Executive Chairman

Mr G Boulton Non-Executive Deputy Chairman

Mr R Smith Non-Executive

Mr R Nicholson Non-Executive

Mr B Grubb Non-Executive

Mr L Winser Managing Director

ii) Executives
Mr B Walsh Chief Financial Officer

Mr C Bright Group Legal Counsel & Company Secretary

Mr S Fanning General Manager K&S Freighters

Mr G Wooller General Manager Full Load, Fleet & Bulk

Mr P Sarant General Manager DTM

Ms K Evans National Human Resources Manager

Ms C De Gois Chief Information Officer

Remuneration Philosophy

The performance of the Company depends upon 
the quality of its Directors and Executives.  To prosper,
the Company must attract, motivate and retain 
highly skilled Directors and Executives.  To this end,
the Company adopts the following key principles in
its remuneration policy:

• Remuneration is set at levels that will attract 
and retain good performers and motivate 
and reward them to continually improve 
business performance.

• Remuneration is structured to reward 
employees for increasing Shareholder value.

• Rewards are linked to the achievement of 
business targets.



22

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee of 
the Board of Directors of the Company is responsible
for reviewing compensation arrangements for 
the Directors, the Managing Director and the Senior
Management team. 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
assesses the appropriateness of the nature and
amount of remuneration of Directors and Senior 
Managers on a periodic basis by reference to 
relevant employment market conditions, with the
overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder
benefit from the retention of a high quality Board 
and Executives.

While the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
reviews the remuneration paid to Non-Executive 
Directors and the Managing Director, and the 
aggregate remuneration paid to the Senior 
Management team, the Board of Directors has 
ultimate responsibility for determining these amounts.

Remuneration Structure

In accordance with best practice corporate 
governance, the structure of Non-Executive Director,
Executive Director and Senior Manager remuneration
is separate and distinct. 

Non-Executive Director Remuneration

Objective

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at 
a level which provides the Company with the 
ability to attract and retain quality Directors, whilst 
incurring a cost which is acceptable to Shareholders.

Structure

The Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify
that the aggregate remuneration of Non-Executive 
Directors’ shall be determined from time to time 
by a general meeting.  

The latest determination was at the Annual 
General Meeting held on 18 November 2007 when 
Shareholders approved an aggregate remuneration 
of $500,000 per year.  

The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be
approved by Shareholders and the amounts paid to
Directors is reviewed annually.  The Board considers
advice from external consultants, as well as the 
fees paid to Non-Executive Directors of comparable
companies when undertaking the annual review.
Each Non-Executive Director receives a fee for being 
a Director of the Company.

Non-Executive Directors have been encouraged by 
the Board to hold shares in the Company (purchased
by the Director on the market).  It is considered good
corporate governance for Directors to have a stake 
in the Company whose Board he or she sits on. 

The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors 
for the period ended 30 June 2010 is detailed on 
page 24 and 25 of this report.

Executive Director and Senior Manager 
Remuneration

Objective

The Company aims to reward Executives with a level
and mix of remuneration commensurate with their
position and responsibilities within the Company to:

• Reward Executives for Company, business unit
and individual performance against targets 
set by reference to appropriate benchmarks;

• Align the interests of Executives with those 
of Shareholders;

• Link reward with the strategic goals and 
performance of the Company; and

• Ensure total remuneration is competitive by 
market standards.
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Structure

In determining the level and make up of Executive 
remuneration, the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee seeks external information detailing 
market levels of comparable executive roles from
which the Committee makes its recommendation 
to the Board.

For the Managing Director and the other Senior 
Executives, remuneration programs are balanced 
with a mix of fixed and variable rewards.  
The make up and eligibility criteria for short term 
incentives are recommended to the Board by the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee prior to
the commencement of each financial year. 

For the year ended 30 June 2010, the adoption of at
risk short term incentives comprising 20% and 10% 
of the base emolument of the Managing Director and
Executives respectively was approved by the Board. 

The payment of such short term incentives can either
be as a cash bonus or superannuation contributions
and is in addition to the base emolument.  Payment
of the short term incentive is conditional upon the
achievement by the Company of budgeted profit 
after tax on a normalised basis and excluding 
any one off or non-trading items (eg, profit on the 
sale of real estate).  Where budgeted profit after 
tax on a normalised basis is not achieved, no short 
term incentive is payable to the Managing Director 
and Executives.  

As the Company’s annual budget for operating profit
after tax is set with a view to increasing the profit
generated by the Company, growing earnings per
share, and improving the Company’s capacity to pay
dividends, the Board believes that aligning the 
payment of short term incentives to the attainment
by the Company of budgeted profit before tax on a
normalised basis is appropriate and in the interests 
of Shareholders.

For the year ended 30 June 2010, the eligibility 
criteria for the payment of short term incentives 
were satisfied.

The Board has approved the adoption of at risk 
short term incentives for the Managing Director and
Executives for the year ended 30 June 2011 on the
same basis as outlined above.  

The total short term incentives payable to the 
Managing Director and Executives for the year ended
30 June 2011, if eligibility criteria are met, will 
be $276,000.

Employment Contracts

It is the Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s
policy that fixed term contracts are only entered 
into with the Managing Director and with no 
other Executives.  

The Managing Director, Mr Legh Winser, has a 
contract of employment with the Company.  
His remuneration comprises a salary and allowances
package.  On early termination, Mr Winser would 
receive up to 12 months salary and benefits.  
The contract does not contain express terms as to 
the duration of the contract, periods of notice and 
required termination details.  Mr Winser is not 
present whilst discussions are held in relation to his
performance and salary package.

Employee Share Plan

At the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 
21 November 2006, Shareholders approved the 
introduction of an Employee Share Plan (“the Plan”).
Employees who have been with the Company for
more than one year are entitled to participate in the
Plan and the purpose of the Plan is to attract, retain
and motivate employees by giving them a stake in 
the future growth of the Company.  Non-Executive 
Directors of the Company are not eligible to 
participate in the Plan.

The first offer to employees was made on 
5 September 2007 under the Plan.  The third offer 
to employees was made on 4 September 2009 and it 
is currently envisaged that offers will continue to be
made annually each September to eligible employees.
Acceptances under the third offer were 330,500 at
$2.40 per share.  

The issue price of the shares offered under the Plan
was the weighted average price of the Company’s
shares on the first five trading days immediately 
following the announcement of the Company’s 
preliminary final results on 26 August 2009.

Eligible employees’ annual entitlements to participate
in the Plan are currently set by the Company’s 
Directors as follows, in line with the entitlements 
notified to Shareholders at the Company’s Annual
General Meeting on 21 November 2006:

Annual Salary Number of Shares

Less than $50,000 1,000 
$50,000 to $100,000 2,000 
$100,001 to $150,000 5,000 
$150,001 to $200,000 7,000 
Greater than $200,000 10,000
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Directors’ Retirement Benefits

A change to the Directors’ retirement benefits 
calculation was made in July 2004 to freeze 
accumulation of years of service of Directors as at 
30 June 2004.  No Director commencing after 
1 July 2004 is eligible for any benefits under the 
retirement scheme.  

The expenditure provided (not paid) during the 
year ended 30 June 2010 is attributable only to the
method of calculation which involves the averaging 
of the fees paid to Directors, as per the benefits
scheme in operation up to 30 June 2004.

Company Performance

The graph at right shows the performance of the 
Company, as measured by the Company’s operating
profit before individually significant items, interest 
and tax.

Normalised EBIT

In addition, Dividends paid to Shareholders are 
disclosed on page 18 of the Directors’ report.
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Remuneration Report (audited) continued

Remuneration of Key Management Personnel and the five highest Paid Executives of the Company 
and the Group

Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2010

Short-Term                           Other Long-Term               Post Employment              Total
Salary &        Cash       Non-Cash    Long Service            Retirement         Super                                    Performance

Non-Executive                  Fees            Bonus     Benefits        Benefit                    Benefits     Contributions                                 Related
Directors                          $              $              $                             $                         $                       $                       $                %

T Johnson 2010 90,000 - - - 10,000 9,900 109,900 -
2009 90,000 - - - 15,833 9,900 115,733 -

G Boulton 2010 52,000 - - - 3,500 5,720 61,220 -
2009 52,000 - - - 3,500 5,720 61,220 -

R Smith 2010 33,000 - - - - 24,720 57,720 -
2009 52,000 - - - - 5,720 57,720 -

B Grubb 2010 52,000 - - - - 5,720 57,720 -
2009 52,000 - - - - 5,720 57,720 -

R Nicholson 2010 52,000 - - - 7,000 5,720 64,720 -
2009 52,000 - - - 7,000 5,720 64,720 -

Total 2010 279,000 - - - 20,500 51,780 351,280
2009 298,000 - - - 26,333 32,780 357,113
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Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2010 continued

Short-Term                           Other Long-Term              Post Employment              Total
Salary &        Cash       Non-Cash    Long Service            Retirement         Super                                    Performance

Fees           Bonus#     Benefits        Benefit                    Benefits     Contributions                                 Related
Executive Director              $              $              $                              $                         $                       $                       $                %

L Winser 2010 375,550 74,000 79,743 9,389 - 45,066 583,748 12.68
2009 370,000 - 64,582 9,250 - 44,400 488,232 -

Other
Key Management
Personnel

B Walsh 2010 213,150 21,000 22,527 5,329 - 28,055 290,061 7.24
2009 210,000 - 23,351 5,250 - 27,677 266,278 -

C Bright 2010 162,400 16,000 21,735 4,060 - 21,888 226,083 7.08
2009 160,000 - 21,473 4,000 - 21,600 207,073 -

S Fanning 2010 327,408 31,000 26,951 5,322 - 25,000 415,681 7.46
2009 310,000 - 30,621 5,167 - 37,200 382,988 -

G Wooller 2010 274,050 27,000 21,423 4,568 - 35,363 362,404 7.45
2009 270,000 - 21,687 4,500 - 34,877 331,064 -

P Sarant 2010 270,764 26,000 28,524 4,399 - 25,000 354,687 7.33
2009 260,000 - 28,419 4,334 - 31,427 324,180 -

K Evans* 2010 152,250 15,000 17,027 2,538 - 18,270 205,085 7.31
2009 - - - - - - - -

C De Gois** 2010 192,076 - 20,640 3,384 - 25,526 241,626 -
2009 200,000 - 23,640 3,188 - 26,477 253,305 -

Total 2010 1,967,648 210,000 238,570 38,989 - 224,168 2,679,375
2009 1,780,000 - 213,773 35,689 - 223,658 2,253,120

* K Evans met the definition of a Key Management Person on 1 July 2009.
** C De Gois resigned on 9 July 2010.
# Cash bonuses have been accrued in the accounts and will be paid in 

September 2010.  Executives qualified for 100% of the short-term incentive 
available for the year ended 30 June 2010.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of 
the Directors.

T Johnson
Chairman

24th August 2010

L Winser
Managing Director

24th August 2010
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The Board of Directors of K&S Corporation 
Limited is responsible for the governance of 
the consolidated entity.  The Board guides 
and monitors the business and affairs of 
K&S Corporation Limited on behalf of the 
Shareholders by whom they are elected and 
to whom they are accountable.

In keeping with the Australian Securities Exchange
Corporate Governance Council’s updated Corporate
Governance Principles and Recommendations, this
statement outlines the Company’s compliance with
the ASX principles.  

The K&S Corporation Limited Corporate 
Governance Statement is structured with reference 
to the Corporate Governance Council’s principles 
and recommendations, which are as follows:

Principle 1 Lay solid foundations for 
management oversight

Principle 2 Structure the board to add value      

Principle 3 Promote ethical and responsible 
decision making

Principle 4 Safeguard integrity in 
financial reporting

Principle 5 Make timely and 
balanced disclosure

Principle 6 Respect the rights of shareholders

Principle 7 Recognise and manage risk

Principle 8 Remunerate fairly and responsibly

The Roles of the Board and Management

The Board has a Charter which establishes the 
relationship between the Board and Management 
and describes their functions and responsibilities in 
a manner which is consistent with ASX Principle 1.

The role of the Board is to oversee and guide the
Management of K&S Corporation Limited 
and its businesses with the aim of protecting and 
enhancing the interests of Shareholders while 
taking into account the interests of employees, 
customers, suppliers and the community at large.   

The Board is responsible for setting and approving 
the strategic direction of the Company, establishing
goals for Management and monitoring the 
achievement of those goals.  

The Managing Director is responsible to the Board 
for the day to day management of the Company.

All Management, including the Managing Director,
have clear statements of roles and responsibilities.
The performance of key Executives is reviewed 
not less than annually by the Managing Director.  

The review involves an open exchange of ideas 
between the Managing Director and key Executives.
The performance of key Executives is reviewed against
matters including financial targets (eg., budget),
OHS&E management, and achievement of specific
strategic and business objectives.

Structure of the Board

The Board currently comprises five Non-Executive 
Directors, including the Chairman, and one 
Executive Director, namely, the Managing Director.  
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The qualifications, experience and periods of service
of each of the Directors is set out on pages 12-13
of the Annual Report.

Directors are expected to bring independent 
views and judgement to the Board’s deliberations.  
In response to the ASX Principles, the Board 
Charter requires the Board to include a majority of
Non-Executive Directors, a Non-Executive Chairman
and to have a different person filling the roles 
of Chairman and Managing Director.  The Chairman 
of the Audit Committee cannot be Chairman of 
the Board.

Directors of the Company are considered to be 
independent when they are independent of 
management and free from any business or other 
relationship that could materially interfere with or
could reasonably be perceived to materially 
interfere with the exercise of their unfettered 
independent judgement.  Materiality of business and 
other relationships held by a Director is considered 
from both the Company and individual Director 
perspective.  The determination of materiality 
requires consideration of both quantitative and 
qualitative elements.  

Quantitative factors relate to the financial value of 
the business or other relationship.  Qualitative 
factors considered include whether a relationship is 
strategically important, the competitive context of 
the relationship, the nature of the relationship and
the contractual or other arrangements governing it 

or other factors which point to the actual ability 
of the Director in question to influence the direction 
of the Company other than in the best interests of 
the Company as a whole.

The Board has reviewed the position of each of the 
six Directors in office at the date of this report and
considers the following Directors of the Company to
be independent:

Name Position

G Boulton Non-Executive Director
R Smith Non-Executive Director

The Board assesses the independence of new 
Directors upon appointment and reviews their 
independence, and the independence of the 
other Directors, as appropriate.

The Board considers the following Directors as not 
independent:

L Winser Managing Director

T Johnson Non-Executive Director (Chairman)

Mr Johnson is a Director of AA Scott Pty Ltd, 
as well as Chairman of Scott Corporation Limited 
(a company controlled by AA Scott Pty Ltd, the 
largest Shareholder of K&S Corporation Limited).  
Mr Johnson is also a partner of Johnson Winter & 
Slattery, which provides legal services to 
K&S Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries.



28

R Nicholson Non-Executive Director

Mr Nicholson was a Director of a number of 
companies within the Scott Group of privately owned
companies until 25 February 2008, one of which 
(AA Scott Pty Ltd) is the largest Shareholder of K&S
Corporation Limited.  Mr Nicholson also remains a 
director of Ascot Media Investments Pty Ltd, which is
one of the Scott Group of privately owned companies.

B Grubb Non-Executive Director

Mr Grubb is Chief Executive and Executive Director 
of Scott’s Transport Industries Pty Ltd, a Director of
Scott Corporation Limited, and a Director of a 
number of other companies within the Scott Group 
of companies, one of which (AA Scott Pty Ltd) is the
largest Shareholder of K&S Corporation Limited.

The Board structure is consistent with ASX Principle 2,
with the exception of: 

• Recommendation 2.1 which requires that the 
majority of the Board be independent Directors.
The Board considers that the mix of skills 
and experience of and the contributions by the 
non-independent Non-Executive Directors 
offsets the benefits to the Company of having 
a majority of independent Non-Executive 
Directors.  However, as part of the review of 
Board Performance (refer page 29), Directors 
have regard to the balance of independent and 
non-independent Non-Executive Directors.

• Recommendation 2.2 which requires that 
the Chairman of the Board be an independent 
Director.  Mr Johnson is Chairman of the 
Board and is not considered by Directors to be 
independent.  The Board considers that the 
skills and experience that Mr Johnson brings as 
Chairman add value to the deliberations 
and functioning of the Board.  Further, K&S 
Corporation Limited’s Deputy Chairman, 
Mr Boulton, is an independent Non-Executive 
Director who is able to fulfil the role of Chairman
where and to the extent that any conflicts of 
interest arise for Mr Johnson.

• Recommendations 2.4 and 8.1 which require
that the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee be chaired by an independent 
Non-Executive Director and have a majority of 
independent Non-Executive Directors as 
members.  Mr Nicholson was the Chairman of 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
during the course of the year.  Mr Nicholson is
not considered by Directors to be an independent 
Director.  The other current members of 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
(Messrs Johnson and Winser) are also not 
considered by Directors to be independent.  
As the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
is only empowered to make recommendations 
to the Board, Directors are of the view that any 
decisions as to nomination and remuneration are
still subject to an appropriate level of scrutiny 
by independent Non-Executive Directors as those 
decisions are reserved to the Board. 

There are procedures in place, agreed by the Board,
to enable Directors, in furtherance of their duties, 
to seek independent professional advice at the 
Company’s expense. 

The Board meets formally eleven times a year and on
other occasions as required.  During the course of the
year, the Board’s sub-committees meet on a number
of occasions to deal with their specific responsibilities
in relation to the Company’s business.  With the 
exception of the Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee, Senior Management attend and are a
vital ingredient to the sub-committees, making 
presentations, providing information and responding
to questions of the Directors.  All Directors have 
unrestricted access to all employees of the Group and,
subject to the law, access to all Company records and
information held by employees and external advisers.
The Board receives regular financial and operational
reports from Senior Management to enable it to 
carry out its duties and responsibilities.

K & S  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 0
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Retirement and Re-election of Directors

The Company’s Constitution requires one third of 
the Directors, other than the Managing Director, to
retire from office at each Annual General Meeting.
Directors who have been newly appointed by the
Board during the year are also required to retire from
office at the next Annual General Meeting and are 
not taken into account in determining the number 
of Directors retiring at that Annual General Meeting.
Retiring Directors are eligible for re-election 
by Shareholders.

Review of Board Performance

The Board has implemented a process for the regular
review of its overall performance, consistent with ASX
Recommendation 2.5.  Regular review involves both
analysis by the Board of the results of a questionnaire
completed by all Directors and discussion between 
the Chairman and each of the Directors.  

The Board’s performance review departs from 
Recommendation 2.5 as the review is conducted by
the full Board, and not the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee.  As the Board is comprised
of only six Directors, the Board considers this the 
most effective way to address its own performance.

Committees of the Board

Three standing Board Committees assist the 
Board in the discharge of its responsibilities. 
These committees are:

• The Audit Committee
• The Nomination and Remuneration Committee
• The Environmental Committee 

Audit Committee

The Board has an established Audit Committee, which
operates under a Charter approved by the Board. 

It is the Board’s responsibility to ensure that an 
effective internal control framework exists within the
entity.  This includes internal controls to deal with
both the effectiveness and efficiency of significant
business processes, the safeguard of assets, the 
maintenance of proper accounting records, and the
reliability of financial information.

The Board has delegated to the Audit Committee 
the responsibility for the ongoing monitoring of a
framework of internal control and ethical standards
for the management of the consolidated entity, 
consistent with ASX Principle 4.

The Audit Committee also provides the Board with
additional assurance regarding the reliability of the 
financial information for inclusion in the financial 
reports.  All members of the Audit Committee are 
currently independent Non-Executive Directors.

Among the specific responsibilities set out in the 
Audit Committee Charter, the Audit Committee 
reviews all published accounts of the Group, reviews
the scope and independence of external audits, 
monitors and assesses the systems for internal 
compliance and control, and risk management and
advises on the appointment, performance and 
remuneration of the external auditors. 

The members of the Audit Committee during the 
year were:

Mr Smith  (Chairman)
Mr Boulton

Mr Smith is Chairman of the Audit Committee.  
The Board considers Mr Smith to be independent
using the ASX Council’s definition of independence.

The Board considers Mr Boulton to be independent
using the ASX Council’s definition of independence.

The ASX Council Recommendation 4.2 recommends
that the Audit Committee consist of at least three
members who are all Non-Executive and the majority
independent.  The Board is of the view that the 
current composition of the Audit Committee 
is appropriate given the size of the business, the 
extensive financial skills, and industry knowledge of
the current members of the Audit Committee.

The Managing Director, the Chief Financial Officer,
the Company Secretary, the Group Commercial 
Manager, the external Auditors and any other 
persons considered appropriate attend meetings of
the Audit Committee by invitation.  The Committee
also meets from time to time with the external 
Auditors, independent of management.

The Audit Committee met on four occasions during
the course of the year.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Consistent with ASX Principle 8, the Board has a 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee with a 
formal Charter.  The role of the Committee is to 
review and make recommendations to the Board on
remuneration packages and policies applicable to 
the Managing Director, Senior Executives, Salaried
Staff and Directors themselves.
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The Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
does not make recommendations to the Board as 
to the nomination and appointment of new 
Directors.  As the Board of K&S Corporation Limited 
is comprised of only six Directors, Directors are of the
view that the nomination and appointment of new
Directors is most efficiently discharged by the Board.  
When appointing new Directors, matters the Board
have regard to include the spread of skills and 
qualifications, experience, and independence of both
the potential appointee and the existing members 
of the Board.  

Remuneration levels are competitively set to attract
and retain appropriately qualified and experienced 
Directors and Senior Executives.  The Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee obtains independent
advice on the appropriateness of remuneration 
packages.  It also plays a role in evaluation of the 
performance of the Managing Director and 
management succession planning.  This role includes
the responsibility for incentive performance 
packages, superannuation entitlements, retirement
and termination entitlements, fringe benefit policies, 
professional indemnity and liability insurance policies.  

The members of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee during the year were:

Mr Nicholson  (Chairman)
Mr Winser
Mr Johnson

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee meets
at least twice a year and as required.  The Committee
met formally three times, but also informally on 
several other occasions during the year.

The Company’s Non-Executive Directors receive only
fees and superannuation for their services and the 
reimbursement of reasonable expenses.  The fees paid

to the Company’s Non-Executive Directors reflect the
demands on, and responsibilities of, those Directors.
The advice of independent remuneration consultants
is taken as well as benchmarking against external 
remuneration data for comparable companies 
to establish that the Directors’ fees are in line with
market standards.  Non-Executive Directors do not 
receive any shares, options or other securities in 
addition to their remuneration. 

A Directors’ fee pool limit of $500,000 for 
Non-Executive Directors was approved by 
Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 
18 November 2007.  This fee pool is only available 
to Non-Executive Directors.  The Non-Executive 
Directors received $52,000 each and the Chairman
was paid $90,000 in 2009/10.  Committee member-
ship does not entitle a Director to additional fees.

The Managing Director, Mr Legh Winser, has a 
contract of employment with the Company.  
His remuneration comprises a salary and allowances
package.  On early termination, Mr Winser would 
receive up to twelve months salary and benefits.  
The contract does not disclose the duration of the
contract, period of notice and required termination
details.  Mr Winser is not present while discussions 
are held in relation to his performance and 
salary package. 

The Non-Executive Directors’ retirement benefits
scheme entitlements were frozen in years of service 
as at 30 June 2004 and will be paid on retirement.
Under the terms of the Non-Executive Directors’ 
retirement benefit scheme, participating Directors are
entitled to receive up to the total remuneration paid
to them in the last three years upon their retirement
in accordance with the following formula: 
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RB = TR x (Y ÷ 15)

where

RB = retirement benefit payable to the Director 
on retirement

TR = the total remuneration paid to the Director in 
the last three years

Y = the years of service of the Director prior 
to 30 June 2004, provided that Y shall not 
exceed 15 

Non-Executive Directors appointed after 30 June 
2004 are not eligible to participate in the retirement
benefits scheme.  

The structure and disclosure of the Company’s 
remuneration of Non-Executive Directors is consistent
with ASX Principle 8.

Further details of Directors’ remuneration, 
superannuation and retirement payments are set 
out in the Directors’ Report on pages 21 to 25.

Environmental Committee

The Board has an Environmental Committee, which
operates under a Charter approved by the Board.  
The role of the Committee is to monitor 
environmental incidents, exposures and compliance
with environmental regulations.

The members of the Environmental Committee 
during the year were:

Mr Johnson  (Chairman) 
Mr Winser
Mr Grubb 

The Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the 
Environmental Committee.

The Environmental Committee is responsible for:

• reviewing and recommending, as appropriate,
changes to the Company’s environmental poli-
cies;

• ensuring the adequacy of environmental 
procedures and controls implemented 
by Management;

• reporting to the Board on Company compliance
with environmental procedures and controls;

• reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness 
of resources devoted to informing employees 
of their environmental obligations and to 
training employees to operate within Company
guidelines and legal requirements;

• monitoring conformance by the Company 
with mandatory environmental reporting and 
improvement regimes;

• regular monitoring of licence requirements, 
with performance against licence conditions 
reported to the various State regulators on 
a regular basis; and

• reviewing any environmental incidents that 
have occurred and monitoring actions taken or 
to be taken.

To enable it to meet its responsibilities, the 
Committee has established a regular internal 
reporting process.  

The Environmental Committee met four times during
the year.

Financial Reporting

Consistent with the ASX Principle 4 and 
Recommendation 7.3, the Company’s financial report
preparation and approval process for the financial year
ended 30 June 2010, involved both the Managing 
Director and Chief Financial Officer certifying that the
Company’s financial reports present a true and fair
view, in all material respects, of the Company’s 
financial condition and operational results and are in
accordance with relevant accounting standards.  

In accordance with Recommendation 7.2, this sign 
off also includes assurances as to the Company’s risk
management processes and internal compliance 
and control procedures.

Audit Governance and Independence

As part of the Company’s commitment to 
safeguarding integrity in financial reporting, the 
Company has implemented a review process to 
monitor the independence and competence of 
the Company’s external Auditor.

The Company’s current external Auditors are Ernst 
& Young.  The effectiveness, performance and 
independence of the external Auditor is reviewed by
the Audit Committee at least annually.  The format 
of that review includes discussing the performance 
of the External Auditors with Management while 
the Auditors are not present.  The Audit Committee
also met with senior members of Ernst & Young to 
review the performance of the lead audit partner.  
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If it becomes necessary to replace the external 
Auditor for performance or independence reasons,
the Audit Committee will then formalise a process 
for the selection and appointment of new Auditors.

Ernst & Young has a policy for the rotation of the 
lead audit partner for their clients.  The lead audit
partner and the audit review partner for the 
Company were last rotated at the commencement 
of the year ended 30 June 2008.

The Audit Committee’s Charter requires the provision
of non-audit services to the Company or its business
units by the external audit firm to be approved by 
the Audit Committee.

In accordance with sections 249V and 250T of the 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), Ernst & Young 
attend and are available to answer questions at the 
Company’s Annual General Meetings.

Risk Management

Consistent with ASX Principle 7, the Company is 
committed to the identification, monitoring 
and management of material risks in the business.  
Those material risks include a full spectrum of 
financial, strategic, compliance, and operational risks.

While not wishing to stifle the entrepreneurial 
endeavours of Senior Executives, the Board takes a 
relatively conservative approach to risk.

The Board requires that Management have in 
place a system to identify, monitor, and manage the
material business risks faced by the Company.  
The management systems in place as part of the risk
management controls include:

• Capital expenditure commitments above set 
limits obtain prior Board approval.  

• Financial exposures are controlled and the use 
of derivatives is limited to interest rate swaps.

• Occupational health and safety standards 
and management systems are monitored and 
reviewed to achieve high standards of 
performance and compliance with regulations.

• Business transactions are properly authorised 
and executed.

• A comprehensive annual insurance programme,
including external risk management survey and
action plans.

• Annual budgeting and monthly reporting 
systems for all business units, which enable the 
monitoring of progress against performance 
targets and the evaluation of trends.

• Appropriate due diligence procedures for 
acquisitions and divestments.

• Disaster management systems for key IT systems
and recovery plans.

• Documentation and regular review of business
wide risk identification and mitigation strategies.

The Company has a risk management policy 
consistent with ASX Principle 7.  The Company also
has a number of policies and internal documents 
that are central to the management of risk.  Those
documents include: 

• The Risk Review Statement that is designed 
to comprehensively document and rate all 
material business risks to which the Company 
is exposed, as well as setting out the actions
being undertaken by Management to mitigate
those risks.

• The Company’s Levels of Authority Statement
which sets out the different levels of authority 
delegated to the Managing Director, General
Managers, and Branch Managers in relation to 
financial and business matters such as capital 
expenditure, acquisitions, entering into contracts,
treasury issues, and employment related issues.
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• The Company’s Administration Manual 
which sets out the financial and administrative
protocols for all staff.

• The Company’s OHS&E Manual and supporting
documented policies and procedures which 
are designed to minimise the risk of harm to 
employees engaged in operational tasks.

• The Company’s Quality Management System 
coupled with its extensive documented operating
and compliance focused policies and procedures
which are designed to ensure that the Company’s
operations are conducted using industry best
practice and in accordance with the numerous
legislative regimes that apply.

Management is responsible to the Board for the
Group’s system of internal control and risk 
management.  The Audit Committee through its 
Charter assists the Board in monitoring this role.

The Risk Review Statement is designed to be a ‘living’
document and is regularly updated to address the
emergence of new risks and changes to the priority 
of existing material business risks.  The Risk Review
Statement is provided to both the Audit Committee
and the Board on a quarterly basis.  In addition, a
summary of the status of key risk items identified in
the Risk Review Statement is provided to the Board 
at its monthly meetings.  

The Managing Director has reported to the Board 
that Management believes that the Company 
has in place an effective system of oversight and 
management and internal controls.  The Managing
Director and the Chief Financial Officer also certify 
on an annual basis that the Company has a sound 
system of risk management and internal control, and
that the system is operating effectively in all material
respects in relation to financial risks.

Continuous Disclosure

The Company understands and respects that timely
disclosure of price sensitive information is central to
the efficient operation of the Australian Securities 
Exchange securities market and has adopted a 
comprehensive policy covering announcements to 
the Australian Securities Exchange. 

The Company Secretary has the responsibility for
overseeing and co-ordinating disclosure of 
information to the Australian Securities Exchange.
The Company Secretary also liaises with the 
Managing Director, Chairman and Chief Financial 
Officer in relation to continuous disclosure matters.  

The Chairman, or in his absence the Deputy 
Chairman, approves all price sensitive releases to the
Australian Securities Exchange prior to release.

The Company posts all price sensitive releases to the
Australian Securities Exchange and media on the
Company’s website. 

The Company’s Continuous Disclosure Policy is 
consistent with ASX Principle 5.

Conflict of Interest

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)
and the Company’s Constitution, Directors must 
keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any 
interest that could potentially conflict with those of
the Company.  Where the Board believes that a 
significant conflict exists, the Director concerned 
does not receive the relevant Board papers and is not
present at the meeting whilst the item is considered.
Details of Director related entity transactions with 
the Company and consolidated entity are set out in
Note 26.

Director Dealing in Company Shares

The Constitution permits Directors and Officers 
to acquire shares in the Company.  Company policy 
prohibits Directors, Associates and Officers from 
dealing in Company shares or Executive options:

• Except up to 30 days after either the release of
the Company’s half year and annual results to 
the Australian Securities Exchange, the Annual
General Meeting or any major announcement.

• Whilst in possession of price sensitive 
information. 

• Outside windows as stated above, except 
where they have obtained the approval of 
the Chairman.

In accordance with the provisions of the Corporations
Act 2001 and the Listing Rules of the Australian 
Securities Exchange, the Company advises the 
Exchange of any transactions conducted by Directors
in shares in the Company.

International Quality Standard ISO 9001

The consolidated entity strives to ensure that its 
services are of the highest standard.  Towards this
aim, it has achieved ISO 9001 accreditation for 
its core business segment and is well advanced in the 
implementation of Occupational Health & Safety 
systems to meet the AS4801 Standard.
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Ethical Standards

In accordance with Principle 3, the Board has adopted
the Code of Conduct produced by the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors to guide the Directors
and promote high ethical and professional standards.

The Board acknowledges the need for continued
maintenance of the highest standards of Corporate
Governance practice and the ethical conduct by all 
Directors and employees of the Company and has 
approved the following policies:

Code of Conduct

The Company has a Code of Conduct for its 
employees to act within the law, avoid conflicts of 
interest, protect Company property, keep information 
confidential and act honestly and ethically in all 
business activities.  The Code of Conduct is 
complemented by a Whistle Blower Policy which 
provides protection to employees who report 
instances of malpractice, impropriety, misconduct, 
or other unethical or illegal conduct involving the 
Company or its employees.

Trade Practices

The Company has a Trade Practices Policy advising 
employees on the legislative prohibitions on price 
fixing and anti-competitive arrangements, as well 
as other prohibited conduct.

Other Policies

Amongst other policies endorsed by the Board 
in previous years are the Occupational Health and
Safety, Environment Protection, Electronic 
Communications Policies and the Transport Law 
Compliance Policy.

The Group’s ethical standards are consistent with the
requirements of ASX Principle 3.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company places considerable importance on 
communication with Shareholders.

The Company’s communication strategy promotes 
the communication of information to Shareholders
through the distribution of the Annual Report, 
announcements through the Australian Securities 
Exchange and the media regarding changes 
to the business, the Chairman’s and Managing 
Director’s addresses at the Annual General Meeting, 
and actively engaging the investment community.

K&S Corporation Limited posts all price sensitive 
reports, Australian Securities Exchange releases and
media releases on the Company’s website. 

The communication strategy is consistent with ASX
Principle 6.  The Company’s Communication Policy 
is available on the Company’s website
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STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
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Consolidated
2010 2009

Note $’000 $’000

Operating revenue 5(a) 454,317 441,036 

Cost of goods sold (53,656) (59,884) 

Gross profit 400,661 381,152 

Other income 5(b) 3,626 2,534 
Contractor expenses (145,137) (126,257)
Employee benefits expenses 5(e) (121,169) (114,563)
Fleet expenses (73,772) (84,185) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 5(d) (20,142) (19,872) 
Finance costs 5(c) (5,218) (5,347)
Other expenses (12,771) (10,800)
2002 fraud related recoveries/(expenses), net - 2,342 
Share of profits/(losses) of associates 13 239 3               

Profit before income tax 26,317 25,007

Income tax (expense) / benefit 6 (7,578) (6,857)

Profit after income tax 18,739 18,150

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation 151 91
Cash flow hedges - (134)
Fair value revaluation of land and buildings 5,314 -

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax 5,465 (43)

Total comprehensive income for the period 24,204 18,107

Earnings per share (cents per share) 7

• basic for profit for the year attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the parent 26.5 26.1

• diluted for profit for the year attributable 
to ordinary equity holders of the parent 26.5 26.1

Dividends per share (cents per share) 8 14.0 12.0

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read 
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated
2010 2009

Note $’000 $’000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9 12,042 14,717 
Trade and other receivables 10 56,747 47,127
Inventories 11 2,696 3,118 
Prepayments 4,809 4,262 

Total current assets 76,294 69,224

Non-current assets

Other receivables 10 2,093 1,352
Investments in associates 13 - 31 
Property, plant & equipment 14 197,169 185,808
Intangibles 15 44,761 25,622 
Deferred tax assets 6 5,776 5,519

Total non-current assets 249,799 218,332

TOTAL ASSETS 326,093 287,556

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 17 44,596 36,998
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 18 16,462 16,927 
Income tax payable 1,270 1,037
Provisions 19 11,190 10,624 
Derivatives 1,123 1,791

Total current liabilities 74,641 67,377 

Non-current liabilities

Other payables 17 4,340 3,047
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 18 47,889 43,306
Deferred tax liabilities 6 18,032 15,633
Provisions 19 2,122 1,964

Total non-current liabilities 72,383 63,950

TOTAL LIABILITIES 147,024 131,327

NET ASSETS 179,069 156,229

EQUITY

Contributed equity 20 64,528 57,425 
Reserves 25,095 19,630 
Retained earnings 89,446 79,174

TOTAL EQUITY 179,069 156,229 

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read 
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT 
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2010
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STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
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Asset Forex Cash flow
Issued Retained revaluation translation hedge Total
capital earnings reserves reserves reserves equity
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

CONSOLIDATED

At 1 July 2009 57,425 79,174 20,956 (1,326) - 156,229

Profit for the year - 18,739 - - - 18,739
Other comprehensive income - - 5,314 151 - 5,465

Total comprehensive income for the year - 18,739 5,314 151 - 24,204

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:

Issue of share capital 7,103 - - - - 7,103
Dividends paid - (8,467) - - - (8,467)

At 30 June 2010 64,528 89,446 26,270 (1,175) - 179,069

At 1 July 2008 55,373 71,459 20,956 (1,417) 134 146,505

Profit for the year - 18,150 - - - 18,150
Other comprehensive income - - - 91 (134) (43)

Total comprehensive income for the year - 18,150 - 91 (134) 18,107

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:

Issue of share capital 2,052 - - - - 2,052
Dividends paid - (10,435) - - - (10,435)

At 30 June 2009 57,425 79,174 20,956 (1,326) - 156,229

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read 
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated
2010 2009

Note $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash receipts from customers 493,552 516,767
Cash payments to suppliers and employees (429,228) (452,797)
Interest received 212 228
Borrowing costs paid (5,218) (5,347)
Income taxes paid (7,414) (7,651)
Net goods and services tax paid (15,957) (14,345)
2002 fraud related recoveries - 2,342

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 9 35,947 39,197

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 2,411 3,056 
Payments for property plant & equipment (4,662) (3,999) 
Acquisition of business (23,995) -

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (26,246) (943) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from share issue 4,936 502
Proceeds from borrowings 20,000 4,000
Repayments of borrowings (12,000) (13,367)
Lease and hire purchase liability repayments (17,626) (18,289)
Dividends paid, net of dividend reinvestment plan (7,700) (9,266)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (12,390) (36,420)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (2,689) 1,834
Cash at the beginning of the financial year 14,717 12,855
Effects of exchange rate variances on cash 14 28

Cash at the end of the financial year 9 12,042 14,717

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read 
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1 Corporate Information

The financial report of K&S Corporation Limited 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 was authorised for
issue in accordance with a resolution of Directors 
on 24 August 2010.

K&S Corporation Limited is a company limited 
by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are
publicly traded on the Australian Stock Exchange.
The nature of the operation and principal activities 
of the Group are described in Note 4.

2 Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

a) Basis of preparation

The financial report is a general purpose financial 
report, which has been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Corporation Act 2001 and
Australian Accounting Standards.  The financial 
report has also been prepared on a historical cost
basis, except for land and buildings which have 
been measured at fair value.  The carrying values of
cash flow hedges are also stated at fair value 
with the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument that is determined to be an effective
hedge recognised directly in equity and the 
ineffective portion recognised in profit or loss.

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars ($’000) unless otherwise stated under the 
option available to the Company under ASIC Class
Order 98/0100.  The Company is an entity to which
the class order applies.

b) Compliance with IFRS

The financial report complies with Australian 
Accounting Standards and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board.

c) New Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations

i) Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted are consistent 
with those of the previous financial year except 
as follows:

The Group has adopted the following new and 
amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 
Interpretations as of 1 July 2009.

• AASB 2008-1 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standard – Share-based Payments:
Vesting Conditions and Cancellations effective 
1 July 2009.

• AASB 8 Operating Segments effective 1 July 2009
• AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements 

(revised 2007) effective 1 July 2009.
• AASB 123 Borrowing Costs (revised 2007) 

effective 1 July 2009.
• AASB Interpretation 16 Hedges of a Net 

Investment in a Foreign Operation effective 
1 July 2009.

• AASB 2008-5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project effective 1 July 2009.

• AASB 2008-7 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Cost of an Investment 
in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or 
Associate effective 1 July 2009.

• AASB 3 Business Combinations (revised 2008) 
effective 1 July 2009.

• AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements (revised 2008) effective 1 July 2009.

• AASB 2008-3 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 3 and
AASB 127 effective 1 July 2009.

• AASB 2008-6 Further Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project (AASB 1 & AASB 5) 
effective 1 July 2009.

• AASB 2009-2 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Improving Disclosures
about financial instruments (AASB 4, AASB 7,
AASB 1023 & AASB 1038) effective 1 July 2009.

• AASB 2009-4 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project effective 1 July 2009.

When the adoption of the Standard or Interpretation
is deemed to have an impact on the financial 
statements or performance of the Group, its impact 
is described below:

AASB 3 Business Combinations (revised 2008) and 
AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements (revised 2008)
AASB 3 (revised 2008) introduces significant changes
in the accounting for business combinations occurring
after this date.  Changes affect the valuation 
of non-controlling interests (previously “minority 
interests”), the accounting for transactions costs, the
initial recognition and subsequent measurement of
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owners, with non-owner changes in equity presented
in a reconciliation of each component of equity and
included in the new Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.  The Statement of Comprehensive Income
presents all items of recognised income and expense,
either in one single statement, or in two linked 
statements.  The Group has elected to present one
statement. 

AASB 123 Borrowing Costs
The revised AASB 123 requires capitalisation of 
borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset.  The Group’s previous policy was to expense
borrowing costs as they were incurred.  In accordance
with the transitional provisions of the amended 
AASB 123, the Group has adopted the Standard on 
a prospective basis.  Therefore, borrowing costs are 
capitalised on qualifying assets with a commencement
date on or after 1 July 2009.  The Group did not 
capitalise any borrowing costs in the current year. 

AASB 2008-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards – Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary,
Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate
The amendments delete the reference to the 
“cost method” making the distinction between pre
and post acquisition profits no longer relevant.  
All dividends received are now recognised in profit 
or loss rather than having to be split between 
a reduction in the investment and profit and loss.
However the receipt of such dividends requires an 
entity to consider whether there is an indicator or 
impairment of the investment in that subsidiary. 
The receipt of dividends by K&S Corporation Limited
during the year did not impact the recoverability of
the investment in the associate.

The amendments further clarify cases or 
reorganisations where a new parent is inserted 
above an existing parent of the group.  It states that
the cost of the subsidiary is the previous carrying
amount of its share in equity items in the subsidiary
rather than its fair value.  The adoption of these
amendments did not have any impact on the 
financial position or the performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements Project
In May 2008 and April 2009 the AASB issued 
omnibus of amendments to its Standards as part of
the Annual Improvements Project, primarily with a
view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying 
wording. There are separate transitional provisions
and application dates for each amendment. 

contingent consideration and business combinations
achieved in stages.  These changes will impact the
amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results
in the period when an acquisition occurs and the 
future reported results. 

AASB 127 (revised 2008) requires that a change 
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without a
change in control) is to be accounted for as 
transactions with owners in their capacity as owners.
Therefore such transactions will no longer give rise to
goodwill, nor will they give rise to gain or loss in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.  Furthermore 
the revised Standard changes the accounting for
losses incurred by a partially owned subsidiary as well 
as the loss of control of a subsidiary.  The changes in
AASB 3 (revised 2008) and AASB 127 (revised 2008)
will affect future acquisitions, changes in, and 
loss of control of subsidiaries and transactions with
non-controlling interests. 

The change in Accounting Policy was applied
prospectively and had no material impact on 
earnings per share. 

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
The amended Standard requires additional disclosures
about fair value measurement and liquidity risk.  
Fair value measurements related to all financial 
instruments recognised and measured as fair value 
are to be disclosed by source of inputs using a three
level fair value hierarchy, by class.  In addition, a 
reconciliation between the beginning and the ending
balance for level 3 fair value measurements is now 
required, as well as significant transfers between 
levels in the fair value hierarchy.  The amendments
also clarify the requirements for liquidity risk 
disclosures with respect to derivative transactions 
and assets used for liquidity management.  The fair
value measurement disclosures are presented in 
Note 3.  The liquidity risk disclosures are not 
significantly impacted by the amendments and are
presented in Note 3. 

AASB 8 Operating Segments
AASB 8 replaced AASB 114 Segment Reporting upon
its effective date.  The Group’s operating segments
determined in accordance with AASB 8 are disclosed
in Note 4, including the related revised comparative
information.

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements
The revised Standard separates owner and non-owner
changes in equity.  The Statement of Changes in 
Equity includes only details of transaction with 
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reversal of impairment.  Any impairment is not 
separately allocated to the goodwill included in the
investment balance.  Any impairment is reversed if 
the recoverable amount of the associate increases.
The Group has amended its impairment accounting
policy accordingly.  The amendment had no impact
on the Group’s financial position or performance.

AASB 136 Impairment of Assets: when discounted 
cash flows are used to estimate “fair value less cost 
to self” additional disclosure is required about the 
discount rate, consistent with disclosures required
when the discounted cash flows are used to estimate
“value in use”.  The additional disclosure also clarifies
the largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill, 
acquired in a business combination, is the operating
segment as defined in AASB 8 before aggregation 
for reporting purposes.  The amendment has no 
impact on the Group as the annual impairment test 
is performed before aggregation. 

Other amendments resulting from the Annual 
Improvements Project to the following Standards did
not have any impact on the accounting policies, 
financial position or the performance of the Group.

AASB 2 Share-based Payment

AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Change in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors

AASB 110 Events after the Reporting Period

AASB 117 Leases

AASB 118 Revenue

AASB 119 Employee Benefits

AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures

AASB 138 Intangible Assets

AASB 140 Investment Property 

ii) Accounting standards and interpretations 
issued but not yet effective

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations
that have recently been issued or amended but 
are not yet effective and have not been adopted by 
the Group for the annual reporting period 
ending 30 June 2010, outlined in the table on the 
following pages:

2 Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

Annual Improvements Project continued

The adoption of the following amendments resulted
in changes to accounting policies but did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.

AASB 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies that segment 
assets and liabilities need only be reported when
those assets and liabilities are included in measures
that are used by the chief operating decision maker.
As the Group’s chief operating decision maker does
review segment assets and liabilities, the Group has
continued to disclose this information in Note 4.

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements:
assets and liabilities classified as held for trading in 
accordance with AASB 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement are not automatically
classified as current in the statement of financial 
position.  The Group amended its accounting policy
accordingly and analysed whether management’s 
expectation of the period of realisation of financial 
assets and liabilities is in accordance with AASB 101.
This did not result in any re-classification of financial
instruments between current and non-current in the
Statement of Financial Position. 

AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment: replace the
term “net selling price” with “fair value less costs 
to sell”.  The Group amended its accounting policy 
accordingly, which did not result in any change in 
the financial position.

AASB 123 Borrowing Costs: the definition of borrowing
costs is revised to consolidate the two types of 
items that are considered components of “borrowing 
costs” into one – the interest expense calculated 
using the effective interest rate method calculated in 
accordance with AASB 139.  The Group has amended
its accounting policy accordingly which did not result
in any change in its Statement of Financial Position. 

AASB 128 Investment in Associates: an investment 
in an associate is a single asset for the purpose of 
conducting the impairment test, including any 
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Reference

AASB 2009-5

Title

Further Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the
Annual Improvements 
Project  (AASB 5, 8, 101,
107, 117, 118, 136 & 139)

Summary

The amendments to some Standards
result in accounting changes for 
presentation, recognition or 
measurement purposes, while some
amendments that relate to 
terminology and editorial changes 
are expected to have no or minimal
effect on accounting except for the
following:  The amendment to AASB
117 removes the specific guidance 
on classifying land as a lease so that
only the general guidance remains.
Assessing land leases based on the
general criteria may result in more
land leases being classified as finance
leases and if so, the type of asset
which is to be recorded (intangible
vs. property, plant and equipment)
needs to be determined.

The amendment to AASB 101 
stipulates that the terms of a liability
that could result, at anytime, in its
settlement by the issuance of equity
instruments at the option of the
counterparty do not affect its 
classification.

The amendment to AASB 107 
explicitly states that only expenditure
that results in a recognised asset 
can be classified as a cash flow from
investing activities.

The amendment to AASB 118 
provides additional guidance to 
determine whether an entity is acting
as a principal or as an agent.  
The features indicating an entity is
acting as a principal are whether the
entity:  has primary responsibility for
providing the goods or service; 
has inventory risk; has discretion in
establishing prices; bears the 
credit risk.

The amendment to AASB 136 clarifies
that the largest unit permitted for 
allocating goodwill acquired in a 
business combination is the operating
segment, as defined in IFRS 8 before
aggregation for reporting purposes.

The main change to AASB 139 
clarifies that a prepayment option is
considered closely related to the 
host contract when the exercise price
of a prepayment option reimburses
the lender up to the approximate 
present value of lost interest for the
remaining term of the host contract.

The other changes clarify the scope
exemption for business combination
contracts and provide clarification in
relation to accounting for cash flow
hedges.

Application
date of
standard

1 Jan 2010

Impact on Group
financial report

The Group has not yet 
determined the extent 
of the impact of the 
amendments, if any.

Application
date for
Group

1 July 2010
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2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(ii) Accounting Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective continued

Reference

AASB 2009-8

AASB 2009-9

AASB 2009-10

Title

Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards –
Group Cash-settled 
Share-based Payment 
Transactions (AASB 2)

Amendments to IFRS 1 
First-time Adoption of 
International Financial 
Reporting Standards.

Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards –
Classification of Rights 
Issues (AASB 132)

Application
date of
standard

1 Jan 2010

1 Jan 2010

1 Feb 2010

Impact on Group
financial report

The Group has not yet 
determined the extent 
of the impact of the 
amendments, if any.

The Group has not yet 
determined the extent 
of the impact of the 
amendments, if any.

The Group has not yet 
determined the extent 
of the impact of the 
amendments, if any.

Application
date for
Group

1 July 2010

1 July 2010

1 July 2010

Summary

This Standard makes amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standard
AASB 2 Share-based Payment and 
supersedes Interpretation 8 Scope of
AASB 2 and Interpretation 11 
AASB 2 – Group and Treasury Share
Transactions. 

The amendments clarify the 
accounting for group cash-settled
share-based payment transactions in
the separate or individual financial
statements of the entity receiving 
the goods or services when the 
entity has no obligation to settle the 
share-based payment transaction.

The amendments clarify the scope 
of AASB 2 by requiring an entity 
that receives goods or services in a
share-based payment arrangement to
account for those goods or services
no matter which entity in the group
settles the transaction, and no matter
whether the transaction is settled in
shares or cash.

The amendments address the 
retrospective application of IFRSs to
particular situations and are aimed at
ensuring that entities applying IFRSs
will not face undue cost or effort in
the transition process.

Specifically, the amendments: 
exempt entities using the full cost
method from retrospective application
of IFRSs for oil and gas assets; 
exempt entities with existing leasing
contracts from reassessing the 
classification of those contracts in 
accordance with IFRIC 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains 
a Lease when the application of their
national accounting requirements
produced the same result.

The amendment provides relief to 
entities that issue rights in a currency
other than their functional currency,
from treating the rights as derivatives
with fair value changes recorded 
in profit or loss.  Such rights will now 
be classified as equity instruments
when certain conditions are met.
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Reference

AASB 2009-11
AASB 9 Financial
Instruments

AASB 2009-12

AASB 2009-13

Title

Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9
(AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101,
102, 108, 112, 118, 121,
127, 128, 131, 132, 136,
139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 10 & 12)

Amendments to Australian
Accounting Standards
(AASB 5, 8, 108, 110, 112,
119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 
& 1031 and Interpretations
2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052)

Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising 
from Interpretation 19
(AASB 1)

Application
date of
standard

1 Jan 2013

1 Jan 2011

1 July 2010

Impact on Group
financial report

The Group has not yet 
determined the extent 
of the impact of the 
amendments, if any.

The Group has not yet 
determined the extent 
of the impact of the 
amendments, if any.

The Group has not yet 
determined the extent 
of the impact of the 
amendments, if any.

Application
date for
Group

1 July 2013

1 July 2011

1 July 2010

Summary

The revised Standard introduces 
a number of changes to the 
accounting for financial assets, the
most significant of which includes:
two categories for financial assets
being amortised cost or fair value
removal of the requirement to 
separate embedded derivatives in 
financial assets strict requirements to
determine which financial assets can
be classified as amortised cost or fair
value.  Financial assets can only be
classified as amortised cost if (a) the
contractual cash flows from the 
instrument represent principal and 
interest and (b) the entity’s purpose
for holding the instrument is to 
collect the contractual cash flows
an option for investments in 
equity instruments which are not 
held for trading to recognise fair
value changes through other 
comprehensive income with no 
impairment testing and no 
recycling through profit or loss on
derecognition reclassifications 
between amortised cost and fair 
value no longer permitted unless the
entity’s business model for holding
the asset changes.  
Changes to the accounting and 
additional disclosures for equity 
instruments classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income

This amendment makes numerous
editorial changes to a range of 
Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations.

This amendment to AASB 1 allows 
a first-time adopter may apply 
the transitional provisions in 
Interpretation 19 as identified in 
AASB 1048.
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2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(ii) Accounting Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective continued

Reference

AASB 124 
(Revised)

AASB 2009-14

Title

Related Party Disclosures

Amendments to 
Australian Interpretation –
Prepayments of a 
Minimum Funding 
Requirement

Application
date of
standard

1 Jan 2011

1 Jan 2011

Impact on Group
financial report

The Group has not yet 
determined the extent 
of the impact of the 
amendments, if any.

The Group has not yet 
determined the extent 
of the impact of the 
amendments, if any.

Application
date for
Group

1 July 2011

1 July 2011

Summary

The revised AASB 124 simplifies 
the definition of a related party, 
clarifying its intended meaning and
eliminating inconsistencies from 
the definition, including:
a) the definition now identifies a

subsidiary and an associate with
the same investor as related 
parties of each other;

b) entities significantly influenced 
by one person and entities 
significantly influenced by a 
close member of the family of 
that person are no longer related 
parties of each other; and

c) the definition now identifies that,
whenever a person or entity has
both joint control over a second
entity and joint control or 
significant influence over a third
party, the second and third 
entities are related to each other.

A partial exemption is also provided
from the disclosure requirements for
government-related entities.  Entities
that are related by virtue of being
controlled by the same government
can provide reduced related party 
disclosures.

These amendments arise from the 
issuance of Prepayments of a 
Minimum Funding Requirement
(Amendments to IFRIC 14).  
The requirements of IFRIC 14 meant
that some entities that were subject
to minimum funding requirements
could not treat any surplus in a 
defined benefit pension plan as an
economic benefit.  
The amendment requires entities 
to treat the benefit of such an early
payment as a pension asset.  
Subsequently, the remaining surplus
in the plan, if any, is subject to the
same analysis as if no prepayment
had been made.
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Reference

Interpretation 19

Title

Interpretation 19 Extinguish-
ing Financial Liabilities with
Equity Instruments

Application
date of
standard

1 July 2010

Impact on Group
financial report

The Group has not yet 
determined the extent 
of the impact of the 
amendments, if any.

Application
date for
Group

1 July 2010

Summary

This interpretation clarifies that 
equity instruments issued to a 
creditor to extinguish a financial 
liability are “consideration paid” in
accordance with paragraph 41 of 
IAS 39.  As a result, the financial 
liability is derecognised and the 
equity instruments issued are treated
as consideration paid to extinguish
that financial liability. 

The interpretation states that equity
instruments issued in a debt for 
equity swap should be measured 
at the fair value of the equity 
instruments issued, if this can be 
determined reliably.  If the fair value
of the equity instruments issued is 
not reliably determinable, the equity
instruments should be measured by
reference to the fair value of the 
financial liability extinguished as of
the date of extinguishment.

Where such indicators exist, to the extent that 
the carrying value of the investment exceeds its 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for 
using the acquisition method of accounting.  
The acquisition method of accounting involves 
recognising at acquisition date, separately from 
goodwill, the identifiable assets acquired, the 
liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree.  The identifiable assets and the 
liabilities assumed are measured at their acquisition
date fair values.

The difference between the above items and the 
fair value of the consideration, (including the fair
value of any pre-existing investment in the 
acquiree), is goodwill or a discount on acquisition.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary
that does not result in a loss of control, is accounted
for as an equity transaction.

Non-controlling interests are allocated their 
share of net profit after tax in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and are presented 
within equity in the Statement of Financial Position, 
separately from the equity of the owners of 
the parent.

d) Basis of consolidation

Subsequent to 1 July 2009

The consolidated financial statements comprise the 
financial statements of K&S Corporation Limited and
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) as at 30 June each year.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the parent company,
using consistent accounting policies.  In preparing 
the consolidated financial statements, all inter-
company balances and transactions, income and 
expenses and profit and losses resulting from 
inter-group transactions, have been eliminated in full. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group and cease 
to be consolidated from the date on which control 
is transferred out of the Group. 

Investments in subsidiaries by K&S Corporation 
Limited are accounted for at cost in the separate 
financial statements of the parent less any impairment
charges. Dividends received from subsidiaries are
recorded as a component of other revenues in the
separate Statement of Comprehensive Income of 
the parent entity, and do not impact the recorded
cost of the investment.  Upon receipt of the dividend
payments from subsidiaries, the parent will assess
whether any indicators of impairment of the carrying
value of the investment in the subsidiary exists.
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e) Business combinations

Subsequent to 1 July 2009

Business combinations are accounted for using the 
acquisition method.  The consideration transferred 
in a business combination shall be measured at fair
value, which shall be calculated as the sum of the 
acquisition date fair values of the assets transferred 
to the acquirer, the liabilities incurred by the 
acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the 
entity issued the acquirer, and the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  For each
business combination, the acquirer measures the 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets.  Acquisition related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the 
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic conditions, the Group’s
operating or accounting policies and other pertinent
conditions as the acquisition date.  This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts
by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured 
at fair value as at the acquisition date through profit
or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by 
the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at 
the acquisition date.  Subsequent changes to fair
value of the contingent consideration which is
deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognised 
in accordance with AASB 139 either in profit or loss 
in other comprehensive income.  If the contingent 
consideration is classified as equity, it shall not 
be remeasured.

Prior to 1 July 2009

Business combinations were accounted for using 
the purchase method.  Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition form part of 
the acquisition cost.  The non-controlling interest 
(formerly known as minority interest) was measured
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets.

2 Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

d) Basis of consolidation

Subsequent to 1 July 2009 continued

Losses are attributed to the non-controlling interest
even if that results in a deficit balance.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
• Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) 

and liabilities of the subsidiary.
• Derecognises the carrying amount of any 

non-controlling interest.
• Derecognises the cumulative translation 

differences, recorded in equity.
• Recognises the fair value of consideration 

received.
• Recognises the fair value of any investment re-

tained.
• Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
• Reclassifies the parent’s share of components 

previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income to profit or loss.

Prior to 1 July 2009

In comparison to the above mentioned requirements
which were applied on a prospective basis from 
1 July 2009, the following differences applied:

• Non-controlling interests represented the portion
of profit or loss and net assets of a subsidiary that
were not wholly-owned by the Group and were
presented separately in the consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income and within
equity in the consolidated Statement of Financial
Position, separately from the parent shareholders’
equity.  Acquisitions of non-controlling interests
were accounted for using the parent entity 
extension method, whereby, the difference 
between the consideration and the book value 
of the share of the net assets acquired was 
recognised in goodwill.

• Losses incurred by the Group were attributed 
to the non-controlling interest until the balance
was reduced to nil.  Any further excess losses
were attributed to the parent, unless the 
non-controlling interest had a binding obligation
to cover these.

• Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for 
the investment retained at its proportionate share
of net asset value at the date control was lost.
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Information about other business activities and 
operating segments that are below the quantitative
criteria are combined and disclosed in a separate 
category for “all other segments”.

g) Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the revenue can be reliably measured.  The following
specific recognition criteria must also be met before
revenue is recognised:

i) Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed
to the buyer and can be measured reliably.  Risks and
rewards are considered passed to the buyer at the
time of delivery of the goods to the customer.

Sales revenue comprises revenue earned (net of 
returns, discounts and allowances) from the provision
of fuel products to entities outside the consolidated
entity. Sales revenue is recognised when fuel 
is provided.

ii) Rendering of services
Service revenue from the distribution of customer
goods is recognised when delivered or when services
are fully provided. 

iii) Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues using
the effective interest method.  This method calculates
the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocates
the interest over the relevant period using the 
effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial instrument to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.

iv) Dividends
Revenue is recognised when the Group’s right to 
receive the payment is established.

h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of 
Financial Position comprise cash at bank and in hand
and short-term deposits with an original maturity 
of three months or less.

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, 
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding 
bank overdrafts.

Business combinations achieved in stages were 
accounted for in separate steps.  Any additional 
interest in the acquiree did not affect previously
recognised goodwill.  The goodwill amounts 
calculated at each step acquisition were accumulated.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded 
derivates separated from the host contract by the 
acquiree were not reassessed on acquisition unless 
the business combination resulted in a change in
terms of the contract that significantly modified the
cash flows that otherwise would have been required
under the contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and 
only if, the Group had a present obligation, the 
economic outflow was more likely than not and a 
reliable estimate was determinable.  Subsequent 
adjustments to the contingent consideration were 
adjusted against goodwill.

f) Operating segments

An operating segment is a component of an entity
that engages in business activities from which 
it may earn revenues and incur expenses (including
revenues and expenses relating to transactions 
with other components of the same entity), whose
operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s
chief operating decision maker to make decisions
about resources to be allocated to the segment 
and assess its performance and for which discrete 
financial information is available.  This includes start
up operations which are yet to earn revenues.  
Management will also consider other factors in 
determining operating segments such as the 
existence of a line manager and the level of segment
information presented to the board of directors.

Operating segments have been identified based 
on the information provided to the chief 
operating decision makers – being the Executive 
Management team.

The Group aggregates two or more operating 
segments when they have similar economic 
characteristics, and the segments are similar in each
of the following aspects:

• Nature of the product or services,
• Type or class of customer for the product 

or services,
• Methods used to distribute the products 

or provide services.
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l) Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such
as interest rate swaps to hedge its risks associated
with interest rate fluctuations.  Such derivative 
financial instruments are stated at fair value.  
The fair value of interest rate contracts is determined
by reference to market value for similar instruments.

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are
classified as either fair value hedges when they 
hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of 
a recognised asset or liability; or cash flow hedges
where they hedge exposure to variability in 
cash flows that is either attributable to a particular 
risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or 
a forecasted transaction.

In relation to cash flow hedges (interest rate swaps) 
to hedge firm commitments which meet the 
conditions for special hedge accounting, the portion
of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that 
is determined to be an effective hedge is recognised 
directly in equity and the ineffective portion is 
recognised in profit or loss.

When the hedged firm commitment results in the
recognition of an asset or a liability, then, at the time
the asset or liability is recognised, the associated 
gains or losses that had previously been recognised 
in equity are included in the initial measurement of
the acquisition cost or other carrying amount of the
asset or liability.

For all other cash flow hedges, the gains or losses 
that are recognised in equity are transferred to 
profit or loss in the same year in which the hedged
firm commitment affects the net profit and loss, for
example when the future sale actually occurs.

For derivatives that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting, any gains or losses arising from changes in
fair value are taken directly to profit or loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging
instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised,
or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting.  At that
point in time, any cumulative gain or loss on the
hedging instrument recognised in equity is kept in 
equity until the forecasted transaction occurs.

If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to
occur, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in
equity is transferred to profit or loss.

2 Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies continued

i) Leases

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group 
substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to
ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the 
inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased
property or, if lower, at the present value of the 
minimum lease payments.

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance
charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability.  Finance charges are charged
directly against income.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the
shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and 
the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that
the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the
lease term.

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all 
the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are
classified as operating leases. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense in the Income Statement on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

j) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables, which generally have 30-90 day
terms, are recognised and carried at original invoice
amount less an allowance for any uncollectible
amounts.  An allowance for doubtful debts is made
when there is objective evidence that the Group 
will not be able to collect the debts.  Bad debts are
written off when identified.

l) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present
location and condition are accounted for as follows:

Consumables – purchase cost on a first-in, 
first-out basis;

Finished goods – weighted average cost.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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When an existing financial liability is replaced by 
another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability,
and the difference in the respective carrying amounts 
is recognised in profit or loss.

n) Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
on loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been 
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (ie., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).  The carrying
amount of the asset is reduced either directly or
through use of an allowance account.  The amount 
of the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence 
of impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, and individually or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If it is determined that no objective 
evidence of impairment exists for an individually 
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not,
the asset is included in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and that group of 
financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment
and for which an impairment loss is or continues 
to be recognised are not included in a collective 
assessment of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed.  Any subsequent reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss, 
to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does
not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

m) Derecognition of financial assets 
and liabilities

Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a 
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised when:

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired;

• The Group retains the right to receive cash flows
from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to
pay them in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or

• The Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, 
the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement in the asset.  Continuing 
involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the 
maximum amount of consideration received that 
the Group could be required to repay.

When continuing involvement takes the form of 
a written and/or purchased option (including 
a cash-settled option or similar provision) on the
transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement is the amount of the transferred asset
that the Group may repurchase, except that in the
case of a written put option (including a cash-settled
option or similar provision) on an asset measured at
fair value, the extent of the Group’s continuing 
involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value 
of the transferred asset and the option exercise price.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the 
obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires.
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and the revenue and expenses are translated at the
weighted average exchange rates for the period.
The exchange differences arising on the retranslation
are taken directly to a separate component of equity.

On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred 
cumulative amount recognised in equity relating of
that particular foreign operation is recognised in
profit or loss.

p) Investment in associates

The Group’s investment in its associates is accounted
for under the equity method of accounting in the
consolidated financial statements and at cost in the
parent.  The associates are entities in which the 
Group has significant influence and that are neither 
a subsidiary nor a joint venture.

Under the equity method, investments in associates
are carried in the consolidated Statement of Financial
Position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the
Group’s share of net assets of the associate.  Goodwill
relating to an associate is included in the carrying
amount of the investment and is not amortised.  
After application of the equity method, the Group 
determines whether it is necessary to recognise any
impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net 
investment in associates.  Goodwill included in the
carrying amount of the investment in associate is not
tested separately, rather the entire carrying amount 
of the investment is tested for impairment as a single
asset. If an impairment loss is recognised, the amount
is not allocated to the goodwill of the associate.

The Group’s share of associates’ post-acquisition 
profits or losses is recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income, and its share of 
post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised
in reserves.  The cumulative post-acquisition 
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount
of the investment.  Dividends receivable from 
the associates are recognised in the parent entity’s
Statement of Comprehensive Income as a 
component of other income.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, 
including any unsecured long-term receivables and
loans, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate.

The reporting dates of the associate and the Group
are identical and the associates’ accounting policies
conform to those used by the Group for like 
transactions and events in similar circumstances.

2 Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

n) Impairment of financial assets continued

Financial assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument
that is not carried at fair value (because its fair value
cannot be reliably measured), or on a derivative asset
that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset.

0) Foreign currency translation

Both the functional and presentation currency of 
K&S Corporation Ltd and its Australian subsidiaries 
is Australian dollars (A$). 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially 
recorded in the functional currency at the exchange
rates ruling at the date of the transaction.  
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the reporting date.

All exchange differences in the consolidated financial
report are taken to profit or loss with the exception 
of differences on foreign currency borrowings that 
provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign
entity.  These are taken directly to equity until the 
disposal of the net investment, at which time they 
are recognised in profit or loss.

Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange 
differences on those borrowings are also recognised 
in equity.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms 
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rate as at the date of the 
initial transaction.

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in 
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

The functional currency of the overseas subsidiaries
(K&S Freighters Limited and Cochrane’s Transport
Limited) is New Zealand dollars (NZ$). 

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of
these overseas subsidiaries are translated into the
presentation currency of K&S Corporation Limited 
at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date 
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The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is
reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are 
reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that 
future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are 
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply
to the year when the asset is realised or the liability 
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in
equity are recognised in equity and not in the profit
or loss.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 
offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the
same taxable entity and the same taxable authority.

Other taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of
the amount of GST except:

• when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods
and services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the GST is recognised 
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset 
or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

• receivables and payables are stated with the
amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority is included as part
of receivables or payables in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash
Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of
cash flows arising from investing and financing 
activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to,
the taxation authority are classified as operating 
cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net 
of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable
to, the taxation authority.

q) Income tax and other taxes

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current 
period and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities based on the current period’s taxable 
income.  The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary 
differences at the reporting date between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all
taxable temporary differences except:

• where the deferred income tax liability arises 
from the initial recognition of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; or

• when the taxable temporary differences is 
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates and the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it 
is probable that the temporary differences will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all 
deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax 
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• when the deferred income tax asset relating to
the deductible temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in 
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 
or loss; or

• when the deductible temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, 
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Fair value is determined by reference to market-based
evidence, which is the amount for which the assets
could be exchanged between a knowledgeable 
willing buyer and a knowledgeable willing seller in 
an arm’s length transaction as at the valuation date.

Any revaluation increment is credited to the asset
revaluation reserve included in the equity section of
the Statement of Financial Position unless it reverses 
a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously
recognised in profit or loss.

Any revaluation decrease is recognised in profit or 
loss unless it directly offsets a previous revaluation 
increase for the same asset debited directly to the
asset revaluation reserve.

In addition, any accumulated depreciation as at 
revaluation date is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is
restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating 
to the particular asset being sold is transferred to 
retained earnings.

Independent valuations are performed with sufficient
regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does
not differ materially from the asset's fair value at the
reporting date.

iii) Derecognition and disposal
An item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to arise from 
the continued use of the asset.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the 
asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item) is included in profit or loss in the period the
item is derecognised.

s) Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are 
classified as either financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
investments, or available-for-sale investments, as 
appropriate.  When financial assets are recognised 
initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the
case of investments not at fair value through profit 
or loss, directly attributable transactions costs.  
The Group determines the classification of its financial
assets after initial recognition and, when allowed 
and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each
financial year-end.

2 Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

r) Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
in value.

Land and buildings are measured at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation on buildings and less any
impairment losses recognised after the date 
of the revaluation.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis
using the following rates:

Land Not depreciated
Buildings 2.5% p.a
Motor vehicles 5% - 40% p.a
Plant and equipment    5% -27% p.a

i) Impairment
The carrying values of plant and equipment are 
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not 
be recoverable.

For an asset that does not generate largely 
independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount 
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

The recoverable amount of plant and equipment is
the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in
use.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset.

Impairment exists when the carrying values of an
asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount.  The assets or cash-generating
units are written down to their recoverable amount.
For plant and equipment, impairment losses are
recognised in profit or loss.  However, because land
and buildings are measured at revalued amounts, 
impairment losses on land and buildings are treated
as a revaluation decrement.

ii) Revaluations
Following initial recognition at cost, land and 
buildings are carried at a revalued amount which is
the fair value at the date of the revaluation less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation on buildings
and accumulated impairment losses.
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The fair value of investments that are actively traded
in organised financial markets is determined by 
reference to quoted market bid prices at the close of
business on the reporting date.  For investments 
with no active market, fair value is determined using 
valuation techniques.  Such techniques include using
recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to
the current market value of another instrument that is
substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis
and option pricing methods.

t) Goodwill and intangibles

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is 
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the 
cost of the business combination over the Group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.
If this consideration transferred is lower than the 
fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired, the
difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured 
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill 
acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other 
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units 
to which goodwill is allocated represents the lowest
level within the Group at which goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes, and is not larger
than a operating segment determined in accordance
with AASB 8.

Impairment is determined by assessing the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units), to which the 
goodwill relates.  

When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
When goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) and an operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associ-
ated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the
Group commits to purchase the asset.  Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets under contracts that require delivery of 
the assets within the period established generally by
regulation and convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets classified as held for trading are 
included in the category “financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss”.  Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling in the near term.  Derivatives are
also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or
losses on investments held for trading are recognised
in profit or loss.

Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturity are 
classified as held-to-maturity when the Group has the
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.  
Investments intended to be held for an undefined 
period are not included in this classification.  
Investments that are intended to be held-to-maturity,
such as bonds, are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost.  

This cost is computed as the amount initially 
recognised minus principal repayments, plus or 
minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method of any difference between the 
initially recognised amount and the maturity amount.  
This calculation includes all fees and points paid or 
received between parties to the contract that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and all other premiums and discounts.  

For investments carried at amortised cost, gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as
through the amortisation process.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market.  Such assets are 
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.  Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised
or impaired, as well as through the amortisation
process.



NOTES TO THE
F INANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

56

the availability of resources to complete the 
development and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure attributable to the intangible asset 
during the development. 

Following initial recognition of the development 
expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring 
the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Any expenditure so capitalised is amortised over the
period of expected benefits from the related project.

The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from
development expenditure is tested for impairment 
annually when the asset is not yet available for use, or
more frequently when an indication of impairment
arises during the reporting period.

u) Impairment of assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any such indication exists, or when annual 
impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group
makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its 
fair value less costs to sell or its value in use and is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent from other assets or groups of assets 
and the asset’s value in use cannot be estimated to 
be close to its fair value.  In such cases the asset is
tested for impairment as part of the cash-generating
unit to which it belongs.  When the carrying amount 
of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating 
unit is considered impaired and is written down to 
its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using 
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.  Impairment losses are 
recognised in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset unless the
asset is carried at revalued amounts (in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease).

An assessment is also made at each reporting date 
as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine

2 Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies

t) Goodwill and intangibles continued

Goodwill disposed of in this manner is measured
based on the relative values of the operation 
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained.

Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not
subsequently reversed.

Intangibles
Intangible assets are initially measured at cost.  
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses.  

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be
either finite or indefinite.  Intangible assets with finite
lives are amortised over the useful life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired.  The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at each 
financial year-end.  

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits
embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing
the amortisation period or method, as appropriate,
which is a change in accounting estimate.  
The amortisation expense on intangible assets with 
finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the 
expense category consistent with the function of the
intangible asset.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for 
impairment annually either individually or at the 
cash-generating unit level.  Such intangibles are not
amortised.  The useful life of an intangible asset with
an indefinite life is reviewed each reporting period 
to determine whether indefinite life assessment 
continues to be supportable.  If not, the change in 
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate
and is thus accounted for on a prospective basis.

Development costs
An intangible asset arising from development 
expenditure on an internal project is recognised only
when the Group can demonstrate the technical 
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that 
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to 
complete and its ability  to the use or sell the asset,
how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
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If the effect of the time value of money is material,
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate
that reflects the risks specific to the liability.  When
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due
to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

y) Employee leave benefits

i) Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including 
non-monetary benefits, annual leave and 
accumulating sick leave expected to be settled within
12 months of the reporting date are recognised in
current provisions in respect of employees’ service up
to the reporting date.  They are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are
settled.  Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are
recognised when the leave is taken and are measured
at the rates paid or payable.

ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in 
the provision for employee benefits and measured as
the present value of expected future payments to be
made in respect of services provided by employees up
to the reporting date using the projected unit credit
method.  Consideration is given to expected future
wages and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures, and periods of service.  Expected future
payments are discounted using market yields at the
reporting date on national government bonds with
terms to maturity and currencies that match, as
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

iii) Defined contribution superannuation funds
The commitment to defined contribution plans is 
limited to making contributions in accordance with
the minimum statutory requirements.  The Group
does not have any legal or constructive obligation to
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating
to current and past employee services.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
superannuation funds are recognised as an expense 
in profit or loss as incurred.

iv) Directors retirement benefits
Directors commencing after 30 June 2004 
are not eligible for any benefit under the Directors 
Retirement Scheme.  However, Non-Executive 
Directors appointed before that date are eligible to 
receive retirement benefits on retiring as a Director.
In July 2004, the Directors Retirement benefit 
calculation changed, to freeze the accumulation of
years of service for each Director.

the asset’s recoverable amount since the impairment
loss was recognised.  

If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to the recoverable amount.  That increased
amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation,
had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
assets in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in 
the profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued
amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a
revaluation increase. 

After such a reversal, the depreciation charge is 
adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s 
revised carrying amount, less any residual value, 
on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

v) Trade and other payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at
amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of 
the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the
Group becomes obliged to make future payments in
respect of the purchase of these goods and services.

w) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at
cost, being the fair value of the consideration received
net of issue costs associated with the borrowing.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.  Amortised
cost is calculated by taking into account any issue
costs, and any discount or premium on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the Income 
Statement when the liabilities are derecognised, as
well as through the amortisation process.

x) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision 
to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a 
separate asset but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain.  The expense relating to any 
provision is presented in the profit or loss net of any
reimbursement.
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Further details of the nature of these assumptions 
and conditions may be found in the relevant notes 
to the financial statements.

i) Significant accounting judgments

Recovery of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible 
temporary differences as management considers 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available to utilise those temporary differences.  
Significant management judgment is required to 
determine the amount of deferred taxes that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and the 
level of future taxable profits.

Taxation
The Group’s accounting policy for taxation requires
management judgment as to the types of arrange-
ments considered to be a tax on income in contrast 
to an operating cost. Judgment is also required in 
assessing whether deferred tax assets and certain 
deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the 
statement of financial position.  Deferred tax assets
are recognised only where it is considered more 
likely than not that they will be recovered, which is
dependant on sufficient future profits.

ii) Significant accounting estimates 
and assumptions

Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired
at least on an annual basis.  This requires an 
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash
generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
The assumptions used in this estimation of 
recoverable amount and the carrying amount of
goodwill are discussed in Note 16.  

Make good provisions
Provision is made for anticipated costs of future
restoration of leased storage premises.  The future
cost estimates are discounted to their present 
value. The related carrying amounts are disclosed 
in Note 19.

Allowance for impairment loss on trade receivables 
Where receivables are outstanding beyond normal
trading terms, the likelihood of recovery of these 
receivables is assessed by management.  This 
assessment is based on supportable past collection
history and historical write-offs of bad debts.  
The allowance for impairment loss is outlined in 
Note 10. 

2 Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies continued

z) Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  
Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary
shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction
of the proceeds received.

aa) Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit 
attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to 
exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than 
dividends), divided by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit
attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for:

• Costs of servicing equity (other than shares);

• The after tax effect of dividends and interest 
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares
that have been recognised as expenses;

• Other non-discretionary changes in revenues 
or expenses during the period that would result
from dilution of potential ordinary shares;

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares.

bb) Significant account judgments, estimates 
and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires
management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the
financial statements.  Management continually 
evaluates its judgments and estimates in relation to
assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and
expenses.  Management bases its judgments and 
estimates on historical experience and on other 
various factors it believes to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the result of which form the basis of
the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources.

Management has identified the following critical 
accounting policies for which significant judgments,
estimates and assumptions are made.  Actual results
may differ from these estimates under different 
assumptions and conditions and may materially affect
financial results or the financial position reported in
future periods.
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and its sources of finance.  The main risks arising 
from the Group’s financial instruments are cash flow
interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk
and credit risk. 

The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Details of the significant accounting policies and
methods adopted, including the criteria for 
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis
on which income and expenses are recognised, in 
respect of each class of financial asset, financial 
liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 2
to the financial statements.

Risk exposures and responses

Fair Value
The Group uses various methods in estimating the 
fair value of a financial instrument.  The methods
comprise:

Level 1 – the fair value is calculated using quoted
prices in active markets.
Level 2 – the fair value is estimated using inputs 
other than quoted prices in level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).
Level 3 – the fair value is estimated using inputs 
for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data.

The fair value of the financial instruments as well 
as the methods used to estimate the fair values are
summarised in the table below.

Long service leave provision
As discussed in Note 2 (y), the liability for long service
is recognised and measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect
of all employees at balance date.  In determining the
present value of the liability, attrition rates and pay 
increases through promotion and inflation have been
taken into account.

Impairment of non-financial assets 
other than goodwill
The Group assesses impairment of all assets at each
reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to 
the Group and to the particular asset that may lead 
to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists the 
recoverable amount of the asset is determined.  This
involves value in use calculations, which incorporate a
number of key estimates and assumptions.

3 Financial Risk Management 
Objectives and Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other
than derivatives, comprise bank loans and overdrafts,
finance leases and hire purchase contracts, and 
cash deposits.

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Group’s operations.  The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such 
as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise
directly from its operations.  The Group also enters
into derivative transactions, principally interest rate
swap contracts.  The purpose is to manage the 
interest rate risk arising from the Group’s operations

Year ended 30 June 2010 Year ended 30 June 2009

Quoted Valuation Valuation Quoted Valuation Valuation
market price technique technique market price technique technique

(Level 1) – market – non-market (Level 1) – market – non-market
observable observable observable observable

inputs inputs inputs  inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) (Level 2) (Level 3)

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

CONSOLIDATED

Financial liabilities

Derivative instruments
– Interest rate swaps - (1,123) - - (1,791) -

- (1,123) - - (1,791) -



Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Financial assets
– Cash and cash equivalents 12,042 14,717

Financial liabilities
– Bank loans (23,803) (15,759)

Net exposure (11,761) (1,042)
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The consolidated entity also minimises concentrations
of credit risk by undertaking transactions with 
a large number of customers and counterparties in
various states.  The Group is not materially exposed 
to any individual customer or individual state.  
Concentration of credit risk on trade debtors due
from customers are: Transport 93% (2009: 93%) 
and Fuel 7% (2009: 7%).

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on 
an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s 
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Foreign currency risk
The Group’s exposure to currency risk is minimal.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in 
market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s
long term debt obligations with a floating interest
rate.  The level of debt is disclosed in Note 18.

At balance date, the Group had the following mix 
of financial assets and liabilities exposed to variable 
interest rate risk that are not designated in cash 
flow hedges:

3 Financial Risk Management 
Objectives and Policies

Risk exposures and responses continued

For financial instruments not quoted in active market,
the Group uses valuation techniques such as present
value techniques, comparison to similar instruments
for which market observable prices exist and 
other relevant models used by market participants.  
These valuation techniques use both observable 
and unobservable market inputs.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2
during the year.

Credit risk
Credit risk represents the loss that would be 
recognised if counterparties failed to perform as 
contracted.  It is the Group’s policy that customers
who wish to trade on credit more than $1,000 per
week are subject to credit verification procedures 
including an assessment of their independent 
credit rating, financial position, past experience and
industry reputation.

Interest rate swap contracts are outlined in Note 21.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost 
using a mix of fixed and variable rate debt.  
To manage this mix in a cost-efficient manner, the
Group enters into interest rate swaps, in which the
Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, 
the difference between fixed and variable rate 
interest amounts calculated by reference to an
agreed-upon notional principal amount.  These swaps
are designated to hedge underlying debt obligations. 

The Group constantly analyses its interest rate 
exposure.  Within this analysis consideration is given
to potential renewals of existing positions, alternative
hedging positions and the mix of fixed and variable
interest rates.
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3 Financial Risk Management 
Objectives and Policies

Risk exposures and responses continued

The following sensitivity analysis is based on 
the interest rate risk exposures in existence at the 
Balance Sheet date:

Judgements of reasonably possible movements: Post Tax Profit Equity
Higher/(Lower) Higher/(Lower)

2010 2009  2010 2009
$’000 $’000  $’000 $’000

Consolidated
+ 1% (100 basis points) (27) 52 (27) 52
– 0.5% (50 basis points) 13 (26) 13 (26)

i) Non-derivative financial liabilities
The following liquidity risk disclosure reflect all 
contractually fixed pay-offs, repayments and interest
resulting from recognised financial liabilities and 
financial guarantees as of 30 June 2010.  For the 
other obligations the respective undiscounted cash
flows for the respective upcoming fiscal years are 
presented.  The timing of cash flows for liabilities is
based on the contractual terms of the underlying 
contract.

However, where the counterparty has a choice of
when the amount is paid, the liability is allocated 
to the earliest period in which the Group can be 
required to pay.  When the Group is committed to
make amounts available in instalments, each 
instalment is allocated to the earliest period in 
which the Group is required to pay.  For financial
guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of 
the guarantee is allocated to the earliest period in
which the guarantee can be called.

The movements in profit are due to higher/lower 
interest costs from variable debt and cash balances.  

Significant assumptions used in the interest rate 
sensitivity analysis include:

• Reasonably possible movements in interest 
rates were determined based upon the Group’s
current credit rating and debt mix in Australia
and New Zealand.

• A price sensitivity of derivatives has been 
based on reasonably possible movements in 
the spot rate.

• The net exposure at balance date is 
representative of what the Group was and 
is expecting to be exposed to in the next 
twelve months. 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities of the
Group and the Group’s subsequent ability to meet
their obligations to repay their financial liabilities as
and when they fall due.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance 
between continuity of funding and flexibility 
through the use of bank overdrafts, bank loans, 
finance leases and committed lines of credit.  
The Group’s policy in managing liquidity risk is to 
ensure the Group always has sufficient liquidity 
to meet its financial obligations when due, as well 
as to accommodate unforeseen cash requirements
over both the short and long term.
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3 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Risk exposures and responses continued

The following table reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows of non-derivative financial instruments:

Greater
Less than 1 to 2 2 to 5 than

1 year years years 5 years Total
$’000 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Year ended 30 June 2010

Liquid financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12,042 - - - 12,042
Trade and other receivables 57,193 476 1,902 - 59,571

69,235 476 1,902 - 71,613

Financial liabilities

Interest bearing loans and borrowings (20,197) (36,449) (15,294) - (71,940)
Trade and other payables (44,596) (4,340) - - (48,936)
Financial guarantees (11,840) - - - (11,840)

(76,633) (40,789) (15,294) - (132,716)

Net inflow/(outflow) (7,398) (40,313) (13,392) - (61,103)

The Group’s available credit facilities 
are outlined in Note 18. 

ii) Derivative financial liabilities
Due to the unique characteristics and 
risks inherent to derivative instruments, 
the Group separately monitors the 
liquidity risk arising from transacting 
in derivative instruments.

The table below details the liquidity risk 
arising from the derivative liabilities held 
by the Group at balance date. 

Year ended 30 June 2010

Liquid financial assets

Derivative liabilities – net settled - (1,123) - - (1,123)

Net maturity - (1,123) - - (1,123)
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Accounting policies and 
inter-segment transactions

The accounting policies used by the Group in 
reporting segments are the same as those contained
in Note 2 to the accounts and in the prior period 
except as detailed below:

Inter-entity sales
Inter-entity sales are recognised based on an 
internally set transfer price.  The price is set 
periodically and aims to reflect what the business 
operations could achieve if they sold their output 
and services to external parties at arm’s length.

Corporate charges
Corporate charges are allocated to each operating
segment on a proportionate basis linked to segment
revenue so as to determine a segmental result.

Segment loans payable and loans receivable
Segment loans are initially recognised at the 
consideration received excluding transaction costs.
Intersegment loans receivable and loans payable 
that earn or incur non-market interest are not 
adjusted to fair value based on market interest rates.

It is the Group’s policy that if items of revenue and 
expense are not allocated to operating segments 
then any associated assets or liabilities are also not 
allocated to segments.  This is to avoid asymmetrical
allocations within segments which Management 
believe would be inconsistent.

The following items and associated assets and 
liabilities are not allocated to operating segments as
they are not considered part of the core operations 
of any segment:

• Finance costs.
• Fair value gains/losses on derivative classified as

held for trading.

The following table presents revenue and profit 
information for reportable segments for the years
ended 30 June 2010 and 30 June 2009.

4 Operating Segments

Identification of reportable segments

The Group has identified its operating segments
based on the internal reports that are reviewed 
and used by the Executive Management team in 
assessing performance and in determining the 
allocation of resources.

The operating segments are identified by 
Management based on the nature of the services 
provided, the identity of the service line manager and
the country of origin.  Discrete financial information
about each of these operating businesses is reported
to the Executive Management team on at least a
weekly basis.

The reportable segments are based on aggregated
operating segments determined by the similarity of
the services provided and/or the products sold, as
these are the sources of the Group’s major risks and
have the most effect on the rates of return.

The Group comprises the following main business
segments, based on the consolidated entity’s 
management reporting system:

• K&S Aust – The provision of interstate and 
local logistical services to customers under the
brand K&S in Australia.

• K&S Fuels – The distribution of fuel to fishing,
farming and retail customers within the South
East of South Australia.

• DTM – The provision of local logistical services 
to customers under the brand DTM.

• Pacific – The provision of logistical services to 
customers under the brand Pacific Transport in
Western Australia.

• K&S NZ – The provision of logistical 
services to customers under the brand 
K&S in New Zealand.
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K&S K&S K&S Unallocated
Aust Pacific Fuels DTM NZ Items Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 30 June 2010
Revenue

Sales to external customers 317,730 10,773 58,629 46,833 20,140 - 454,105
Inter-segment sales 167 - 33,716 358 - - 34,241

Total segment revenue 317,897 10,773 92,345 47,191 20,140 - 488,346

Segment net operating 
profit after tax 17,245 564 1,124 1,547 172 - 20,652

Interest revenue - - - - - 212 212
Interest expense - - - - - (5,218) (5,218)
Depreciation and amortisation (17,004) (556) (117) (91) (2,374) - (20,142)
Share of profit of associate 225 - - - 14 - 239
Income tax expense (6,289) (241) (495) (644) 91 - (7,578)

Segment assets 278,305 4,546 15,612 16,204 21,309 - 335,976

Investment in associate - - - - - - -
Capital expenditure (17,481) - - - (1,008) - (18,489)

Segment liabilities (119,563) (3,982) (5,877) (2,233) (10,603) - (142,258)

Cash flow information
Net cash flow from 

operating activities 29,047 1,120 1,483 2,231 2,066 - 35,947
Net cash flow from 

investing activities (26,501) - - 270 (15) - (26,246)
Net cash flow from 

financing activities (4,657) (1,120) (1,483) (2,504) (2,626) - (12,390)

Year ended 30 June 2009
Revenue

Sales to external customers 308,502 - 64,813 44,371 23,028 - 440,714
Inter-segment sales 150 - 36,380 480 - - 37,010

Total segment revenue 308,652 - 101,193 44,851 23,028 - 477,724

Segment net operating 
profit after tax 17,521 - 985 2,216 511 - 21,233

Interest revenue - - - - - 322 322
Interest expense - - - - - (5,347) (5,347)
Depreciation and amortisation (19,847) - (25) - - - (19,872)
Share of profit of associate - - - - 3 - 3
Income tax expense (5,638) - (422) (895) 98 - (6,857)

Segment assets 241,569 - 14,513 15,453 23,160 - 294,695

Investment in associate - - - - - 31 31
Capital expenditure (21,945) - - - (441) - (22,386)

Segment liabilities (104,038) - (5,690) (2,975) (12,821) - (125,524)

Cash flow information
Net cash flow from 

operating activities 31,805 - 710 3,090 3,592 39,197
Net cash flow from 

investing activities (1,033) - - 169 (79) (943)
Net cash flow from 

financing activities (29,282) - (701) (3,268) (2,989) (36,420)

4 Operating Segments continued
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Consolidated
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

i) Segment revenue reconciliation to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income

Total segment revenue 488,346 477,724
Interest revenue 212 322
Inter-segment sales elimination (34,241) (37,010)

Total revenue 454,317 441,036

Revenue from external customers by geographical location is 
detailed below. Revenue is attributed to geographic location 
based on the location of the customers.  The Company does 
not have external revenues from external customers that are 
attributable to any foreign country other than as shown.

Australia 434,177 418,008
New Zealand 20,140 23,028

Total revenue 454,317 441,036

ii) Segment net operating profit before 
tax reconciliation to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

Segment net operating profit after tax 20,652 21,233
Income tax expense 30% (2009: 30%) 8,807 9,840
Fair value gain /(loss) on held for trading derivatives 668 (1,791)
Finance costs (5,218) (5,347)
Net gains on disposal of property plant and equipment 1,408 1,072

Total net profit before tax per Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 26,317 25,007

iii) Segment assets reconciliation to the 
Statement of Financial Position

Segment assets are those operating assets of the entity that 
the Management committee views as directly attributing to 
the performance of the segment.  These assets include 
plant and equipment, receivables, inventory, intangibles and 
excludes deferred tax assets 

Segment operating assets 335,976 294,695
Intersegment eliminations (15,659) (12,658)
Deferred tax assets 5,776 5,519

Total assets per the Statement of Financial Position 326,093 287,556

The analysis of location on non-current assets other than 
financial instruments and deferred tax assets is as follows:

Australia 226,006 193,390
New Zealand 18,085 19,423

Total assets per the Statement of Financial Position 244,091 212,813
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Consolidated
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

iv) Segment liabilities reconciliation to the 
Statement of Financial Position

Segment liabilities include trade and other payables and 
debt.  The Group has a centralised finance function that is 
responsible for raising debt and capital for the entire 
operations.  Each entity or business uses this central function 
to invest excess cash or obtain funding for its operations.  
The Executive Management committee reviews the level of 
debts for each segment in the monthly meetings. 

Segment operating liabilities 142,258 125,524
Intersegment eliminations (15,659) (12,658)
Deferred tax liabilities 18,032 15,633
Income tax payable 1,270 1,037
Derivatives 1,123 1,791

Total liabilities per the Statement of Financial Position 147,024 131,327

5 Revenue and Expenses

Revenue

a) Rendering of services 395,476 375,901
Sale of goods 58,629 64,813
Finance revenue 212 322

Total revenue 454,317 441,036

b) Other income
– Net gains on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment 1,408 1,072
– Other 2,218 1,462

Total other income 3,626 2,534 

c) Finance costs
– Related parties – other 5 5
– Other parties 2,184 1,779
– Finance charges on hire purchase contracts 3,029 3,563

Total finance costs 5,218 5,347

d) Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation
- Buildings 1,491 1,698 
- Motor vehicles 16,176 15,937 
- Plant and equipment 2,351 2,237 

Amortisation
- IT Development costs 124 -

Total depreciation and amortisation expenses 20,142 19,872 

4 Operating Segments continued
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Consolidated
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

e) Employee benefits expense

– Wages and salaries 96,599 91,700
– Workers’ compensation costs 5,452 4,702
– Long service leave provision 627 593
– Annual leave provision 6,323 5,796
– Payroll tax 5,317 5,246
– Defined contribution plan expense 6,831 6,499
– Directors retirement scheme expense 20 27

Total employee benefits expenses 121,169 114,563

f) Operating lease rental expense

– Property 5,782 6,867
– Plant & equipment 2,949 3,353

8,731 10,220

g) Derivatives

– Net (gain) /loss on derivatives 
classified as held for trading * (668) 1,791

*  Derivatives held by the Group do not qualify for hedge accounting and 
as a result any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are 
taken directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  The net 
gain is reported within other income and the net loss is reported within 
other expenses. Interest rate swap contracts are outlined in Note 21.

6 Income Tax

The major components of income tax expense are:

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Current income tax

– Current income tax charge 7,813 7,216
– Adjustments in respect of current income tax 

of previous years (245) (161)

Deferred income tax

– Relating to origination and reversal of 
temporary differences 10 (198)

Income tax expense reported in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 7,578 6,857

Statement of Changes in Equity

Deferred income tax related to items charged or 
credited directly to equity

– Net gain on revaluation of land and buildings 2,277 -

Income tax expense reported in equity 2,277 -

5 Revenue and Expenses continued



Consolidated
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product 
of accounting profit before income tax multiplied 
by the Group’s applicable income tax rate is as follows:

Accounting profit before income tax 26,317 25,007

At the Group’s statutory income tax rate 
of 30% (2008: 30%) 7,895 7,502
– Expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes 53 58
– Adjustments in respect of current income tax 

of previous years (245) (161)
– Investment allowance (125) (542)

Income tax expense reported in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 7,578 6,857

Consolidated
2010 2010 2009  2009
$’000 $’000 $’000  $’000

Current Deferred Current Deferred
Income  Income Income  Income

Tax Tax Tax Tax

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Opening balance (1,037) (10,114) (2,479) (9,501)
Charged to income (7,813) (10) (7,216) 198
Charged to equity - (2,277) - -
Prior year adjustment 167 9 1,024 (811)
Other payments 7,413 - 7,634 -

Closing balance (1,270) (12,392) (1,037) (10,114)

Tax expense in Statement of Comprehensive Income 7,578 6,857

Amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position:
Deferred tax asset 5,776 5,519
Deferred tax liability (18,032) (15,633)

(12,392) (10,114)

6 Income Tax continued
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Statement of Financial Position
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:

Consolidated

Deferred tax liabilities
– Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes (5,390) (4,605)
– Revaluations of land & buildings to fair value (11,258) (8,981)
– Trade and other receivables not derived for tax purposes (1,384) (2,047)

(18,032) (15,633)

Deferred tax assets
– Accelerated depreciation for accounting purposes 474 461
– Trade and other payables not currently deductible 1,181 1,122
– Trade and other receivables not derived for tax purposes 128 193
– Employee entitlements not currently deductible 3,993 3,743

Gross deferred income tax assets 5,776 5,519

Tax consolidation

Effective 1 July 2002, for the purposes of income taxation, K&S Corporation Limited and its 100% owned Australian resident
subsidiaries formed a tax consolidated group. K&S Corporation Limited is the head entity of the tax consolidated group.
Members of the group entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order to allocate income tax expense to the wholly-owned
subsidiaries. In addition, the agreement provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the
head entity default on its tax payment obligations. At balance date, the possibility of default is remote.

K&S Corporation Limited formally notified the Australian Tax Office of its adoption of the tax consolidation regime when 
lodging its 30 June 2003 consolidated tax return. 

Tax effect accounting by members of the tax consolidated group

Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement.  The tax funding agreement requires
members of the tax consolidated group to make contributions to the head company for tax liabilities and deferred 
tax balances arising from transactions occurring after the implementation of tax consolidation. Contributions are payable 
following the payment of the liabilities by K&S Corporation Limited. The assets and liabilities arising under the tax funding
agreement are recognised as intercompany assets and liabilities with a consequential adjustment to income tax expense 
or benefit.

In addition, the agreement provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity 
default on its tax payment obligations or upon leaving the Group.

In preparing the accounts for K&S Corporation Ltd for the current year, the following amounts have been recognised as tax
consolidation adjustments:

Parent
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Total increase/(reduction) to tax expense of 
K&S Corporation Ltd (7,920) (6,265)

Total increase/(reduction) to inter-company assets of 
K&S Corporation Ltd 7,920 6,265

6 Income Tax continued
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7 Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit after tax for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 
parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:

Consolidated
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent from continuing operations 18,739 18,150

Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent 18,739 18,150

2010 2009
Thousands Thousands

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of 
the basic earnings per share 70,624 69,559

Effect of dilution
– Ordinary Shares - -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares adjusted for the effect of dilution 70,624 69,559

Earnings per share calculations reflect the “bonus” element of the share purchase plan conducted in May 2010.  As such, an
adjustment is required to the number of shares outstanding before the share purchase plan to reflect the “bonus” element.
Prior year comparatives earnings per share figures have been restated to take account of this.

Consolidated
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

8 Dividends Paid and Proposed

Declared and paid during the year:
Dividends on ordinary shares
Final franked dividend for 2009: 5.0 cents (2008: 8.0 cents) 3,510 5,554
Interim franked dividend for 2010: 7.0 cents (2009: 7.0 cents) 4,957 4,881

8,467 10,435

Proposed (not recognised as a liability as at 30 June):
Dividends on ordinary shares
Final franked dividend for 2010: 7.0 cents (2009: 5.0 cents) 5,148 3,510

Franking credit balance
The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent year are:
• franking account balance as at the end of the financial year at 30% (2009: 30%) 38,465 34,804
• franking credits that will arise from the payment of income tax payable as at 

the end of the financial year 2,262 1,545

The amount of franking credits available for future reporting periods:
• impact on franking account of dividends proposed but not recognised as a 

distribution to equity holders during the period (2,206) (1,497)

38,521 34,852

Tax rates
The tax rate at which dividends have been franked is 30% (2009: 30%). 
Dividends proposed will be franked at the rate of 30% (2009: 30%).
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Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

9 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash 42 41
Cash deposits with banks 12,000 14,676

12,042 14,717

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based 
on daily bank deposit rates.

Reconciliation of net profit after income tax 
to net cash flows from operations

Net profit after income tax 18,739 18,150

Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing activities:
– (Profit)/loss on sale of non-current assets (1,408) (1,072)

Add/(less) non-cash items:
– Amounts set aside to provisions 569 764
– Depreciation 20,142 19,872
– Net exchange differences - 294
– Share of associates’ net profit (239) (3) 
– Dividends received from associates 268 -

Net cash provided by operating activities 
before changes in assets and liabilities 38,071 38,005

CHANGE IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 483 856
(Increase)/decrease in income tax benefit (187) 195
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments (409) (457)
(Increase)/decrease in receivables (10,306) 12,628
(Decrease)/increase in trade creditors 7,943 (11,017)
(Decrease)/increase in income taxes payable 235 (1,442)
(Decrease)/increase in deferred taxes payable 113 418
Exchange rate changes on opening cash balances 4 11

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 35,947 39,197

Disclosure of financing facilities
Refer to Note 18.

Disclosure of non-cash financing and investing activities
Refer to Note 14.
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Consolidated
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

10 Trade and Other Receivables

Current
Trade debtors 54,052 44,805 
Allowance for impairment loss (a) (446) (478) 

53,606 44,327 

Sundry debtors 3,141 2,800 

56,747 47,127

Non-current
Sundry debtors 515 -
Related party receivables  
– Employee share plan loans 1,578 1,352

2,093 1,352

a) Allowance for impairment loss

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally 
on 30-90 day terms.  An allowance for doubtful debts is 
made when there is objective evidence that a trade receivable 
is impaired.  The amount of the allowance/impairment loss 
has been measured as the difference between the carrying 
amount of the trade receivables and the estimated future cash 
flows expected to be received for the relevant debtors.

Movements in the provision for impairment loss were as follows:

At 1 July 478 329
Charge for the year 151 292
Amounts written off (183) (143)

At 30 June 446 478

At 30 June, the aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Consolidated Total 0-30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days 61-90 days +91 days +91 days
PDNI* CI** PDNI* CI**

2010 54,052 37,665 14,325 1,192 - 424 446
2009 44,805 32,115 10,857 1,355 149 - 329

* Past due not impaired (‘PDNI’)
** Considered impaired (‘CI’)

Receivables past due but not impaired payment terms have not been re-negotiated.  Each operating unit has been in direct
contact with the relevant debtor and is satisfied that payment will be received in full.

Other balances within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due.  It is expected that
these other balances will be received when due.

b) Fair value and credit risk

Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.  
The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables.  Collateral is not held as security, nor is it the Group’s 
policy to transfer (on-sell) receivables to special purpose entities.



Consolidated
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

11 Inventories

Consumable stores – at cost 966 952
Finished goods – fuel at cost 1,730 2,166

Total inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value 2,696 3,118

a) Inventory expense

Inventories recognised as an expense for the year ended 
30 June 2010 totalled $53,656,000 (2009: $59,884,000) 
for the Group.  This expense has been included in the 
cost of sales line item as a cost of inventories.

Parent
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

12 Other Financial Assets

Investments controlled entities
– Shares – unlisted at cost 32,418 32,418 

32,418 32,418 

13 Investment in Associates

a) Investment details Investment Carrying
Interest Owned Amount Consolidated

2010 2009  2010 2009
% %  $’000 $’000

Smart Logistics Pty Ltd 50 50 - -
Dairy Transport Logistics Pty Ltd* 24.5 50 - 31

Investment in associates - 31

Both Smart Logistics Pty Ltd and Dairy Transport Logistics 
Pty Ltd are providers of distribution services and consultants 
in transport and distribution.  Smart Logistics Pty Ltd was 
incorporated in Australia.  Dairy Transport Logistics Pty Ltd 
was incorporated in New Zealand.

* On 30 June 2010, 510 Dairy Transport Logistics ordinary 
shares were transferred from K&S Freighters Ltd (NZ) to 
Fonterra Ltd for the consideration of $1,000.

b) Movements in the carrying amount of the 
Group’s investment in associates Consolidated

2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Dairy Transport Logistics Pty Ltd
At 1 July 31 27
Share of profit after income tax 14 3
Exchange rate changes on opening balances (2) 1
Dividend payment (43) -

At 30 June - 31
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Consolidated
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Smart Logistics Pty Ltd
At 1 July - -
Share of profit after income tax 280 416
Dividend payment (225) -
Net carrying amount not recognised under 

equity accounting (55) (416)

At 30 June - -

c) Share of associates’ commitments

Share of associates’ finance lease commitments:
Within one year 208 242
One year or later and no later than five years 313 521

Minimum lease payments 521 763
Less: Future finance charges (51) (98)

Total lease liability 470 665

d) Summarised financial information

The following table illustrates summarised financial 
information relating to the Group’s associates:

Extract from the associates’ Statement of Financial Position:
Current assets 9,384 9,952
Non-current assets 764 1,527

10,148 11,479

Current liabilities (9,591) (10,610)
Non-current liabilities (599) (944)

(10,190) (11,554)

Net assets/(liabilities) (42) (75)

Share of associates net assets/(liabilities) (21) (37)
Adjustments arising from equity accounting 
– Net carrying amount not recognised under 

equity accounting 21 68

- 31

Extract from the associates’ 
Statement of Comprehensive Income:
Revenue 116,009 124,937
Net profit/(loss) 567 838

13 Investment in Associates continued
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Consolidated
Freehold Land Motor Plant & 
and Buildings Vehicles Equipment Total

$’000 $’000  $’000  $’000

14 Property, Plant and Equipment

a) Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the
beginning and end of the period:

Year ended 30 June 2010

As at 1 July 2009
net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 83,613 91,324 10,871 185,808
Additions 874 14,879 2,758 18,511
Additions – Pacific Transport - 5,923 237 6,160
Reclassification of category 27 - (27) -
Revaluation 7,591 - - 7,591
Disposals - (1,003) - (1,003)
Depreciation charge for the year (1,491) (16,176) (2,351) (20,018)
Exchange adjustment 4 115 1 120

At 30 June 2010
net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 90,618 95,062 11,489 197,169 

At 30 June 2010

Cost or fair value 92,538 199,113 42,915 334,566  
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (1,920) (104,051) (31,426) (137,397)

Net carrying amount 90,618 95,062 11,489 197,169

Year ended 30 June 2009

As at 1 July 2008
net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 84,396 90,371 10,346 185,113
Additions 912 18,154 3,320 22,386
Reclassification of category - 561 (561) -
Disposals - (1,984) - (1,984)
Depreciation charge for the year (1,698) (15,937) (2,237) (19,872)
Exchange adjustment 3 159 3 165

At 30 June 2009
net of accumulated depreciation and impairment 83,613 91,324 10,871 185,808 

At 30 June 2009

Cost or fair value 86,813 187,343 41,817 315,973  
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (3,200) (96,019) (30,946) (130,165)

Net carrying amount 83,613 91,324 10,871 185,808

b) Revaluation of freehold land and buildings

The freehold land and buildings are included in the financial 
statements at fair value, except for capital expenditure 
subsequent to the valuation which is recorded at cost.  The fair 
value of land and buildings in 2010 was determined based on 
an independent valuation undertaken in March 2010 by Jones 
Lang LaSalle on the basis of open market values of properties 
for the highest and best use.  Directors have adopted 
this independent valuation as fair value.  This resulted in an 
increase to the Asset Revaluation Reserve of $5,314,000.
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14 Property, Plant and Equipment continued

Consolidated
2010 2009

Freehold Land Freehold Land
and Buildings and Buildings

$’000 $’000  

c) Carrying amounts if land and buildings were measured 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment

If land and buildings were measured using the cost 
model the carrying amounts would be as follows:

Cost 59,889 59,037
Accumulated depreciation and impairment (6,258) (5,172)

Net carrying amount 53,631 53,865

d) Property, plant and equipment pledged as security 
for liabilities

The carrying value of motor vehicles held under hire purchase 
contracts at 30 June 2010 is $59,368,541 (2009: $62,683,486).    
Additions during the year include $13,849,000
(2009: $18,387,000) held under hire purchase contracts.

Hire purchase liabilities are secured by the relevant asset.

Included in the balances of freehold land and buildings are 
assets on which mortgages have been granted as security over 
bank loans.  The terms of the mortgages preclude the assets 
being sold or used as security for further mortgages without 
the permission of the mortgage holder.  The mortgage 
also requires buildings that form part of the security to be fully 
insured at all times.

Consolidated
IT Development 

Costs Goodwill Total
$’000  $’000  $’000

15 Intangible Assets and Goodwill

Year ended 30 June 2010

At 1 July 2009
net of accumulated amortisation and impairment 3,953 21,669 25,622
Additions – Pacific Transport - 19,201 19,201
Amortisation (124) - (124)
Exchange adjustment - 62 62

At 30 June 2010
net of accumulated amortisation and impairment 3,829 40,932 44,761

At 30 June 2010

Cost (gross carrying amount) 3,953 40,932 44,885
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (124) - (124)

Net carrying amount 3,829 40,932 44,761



Consolidated
IT Development 

Costs Goodwill Total
$’000  $’000  $’000

Year ended 30 June 2009

At 1 July 2008
net of accumulated amortisation and impairment 3,005 21,631 24,636
Additions – Pacific Transport 948 - 948
Exchange adjustment - 38 38

At 30 June 2009
net of accumulated amortisation and impairment 3,953 21,669 25,622

At 30 June 2009

Cost (gross carrying amount) 3,953 21,669 25,622
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - - -

Net carrying amount 3,953 21,669 25,622

IT development costs have been capitalised at cost and relate to the development of the Group’s new core freight system
(Panorama). Panorama is still currently in development and is anticipated to be complete within 12 months. 

As from 1 July 2005, goodwill is no longer amortised but is now subject to annual impairment testing (see Note 16). 

No impairment loss was recognised for continuing operations in the 2010 financial year.

16 Impairment Testing of Goodwill

Cash generating units

For the purpose of undertaking impairment testing, the Group identify cash generating units (CGU’s) according 
to the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from the 
other assets or groups of assets.

Goodwill acquired through business combinations have been allocated across five individual cash generating units 
as follows:

Goodwill
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

K&S Freighters – Australia 3,993 3,993
K&S Fuels 165 165
Pacific Transport 19,201 -
DTM Logistics 12,207 12,207
K&S Freighters – New Zealand 5,366 5,304

40,932 21,669

Impairment testing

The Group’s impairment testing compares the carrying value 
of each CGU with its recoverable amount as determined using 
a value in use calculation.

The assumptions for determining the recoverable amount 
of each CGU are based on past experience and Senior 
Management’s expectations for the future.  The cash flow 
projections are based on financial budgets approved by 
Senior Management covering a five-year period.

K & S  C O R P O R A T I O N  L I M I T E D  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 1 0

77

15 Intangible Assets and Goodwill continued



The Group has used the following key assumptions in determining the recoverable amount of each CGU to which goodwill
has been allocated:

Terminal Value
Discount Rate Growth Rate

2010 2009  2010 2009
% %  % %

K&S Freighters – Australia 12.77 13.45 4.0 5.0
K&S Fuels 12.77 13.45 4.0 5.0
Pacific Transport 12.77 - 5.0 -
DTM Logistics 12.77 13.45 4.5 5.0
K&S Freighters – New Zealand 13.93 13.57 2.0 4.0

Discount rate

The discount rate represents the pre tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections.  The discount rates reflect the 
market determined, risk adjusted, discount rate relating to the cash generating unit. 

Terminal growth rate

The terminal growth rate represents the growth rate applied to the extrapolated cash flows beyond the five year forecast 
period.  This is based on Senior Management expectations of the cash generating units’ long term performance in their 
respective markets.

i) Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
With regard to the assessment of the carrying amount of each of the cash generating units, Management believe 
that no reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would cause the carrying value to materially exceed its 
recoverable amount.

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

17 Payables

Current

Trade creditors and payables 42,249 34,460
Self insured workers compensation liability 2,347 2,538

44,596 36,998

Non-current

Self insured workers compensation liability 4,340 3,047

4,340 3,047

i) Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are 
normally settled on 30 day terms

18 Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings

Current

Hire purchase liabilities – secured 16,462 16,927

16,462 16,927

Non-current

Non redeemable preference shares 60 60
Hire purchase liabilities – secured 24,026 27,487
Bank loans – secured 23,803 15,759

47,889 43,306
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16 Impairment Testing of Goodwill continued
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18 Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings continued

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Commitments in respect of hire purchase 
agreements are payable as follows:

Not later than one year 19,080 20,211
Later than one year but not later than five years 26,823 29,696

45,903 49,907

Deduct: future finance charges (5,415) (5,493)

Total hire purchase liability 40,488 44,414

Current 16,462 16,927
Non-current 24,026 27,487

40,488 44,414

Fair value disclosures

The carrying amount of the Group’s current and non-current 
borrowing approximate their fair value.

Details of the fair value of the Group’s interest bearing 
liabilities are set out in Note 3.

Hire purchase contracts

The consolidated entity leases plant & equipment under 
hire purchase agreements for periods of one to five years.  
At the end of the term, the consolidated entity has the option 
to purchase the equipment at the agreed residual value. 

Hire purchase liabilities are secured by the relevant asset.

The written down value of assets secured by hire 
purchase agreements is $59,368,541 (2009: $62,683,486).  
The weighted average cost of these facilities was 
7.90% (2009: 7.52%). 

Bank loans

All bank loans are denominated in Australian dollars.  
Bank loans are secured by fixed and floating charges 
over the assets of the consolidated entity.  Bank loans are 
also secured by registered mortgages over a number of 
properties of the consolidated entity to the extent of 
$91,435,000 (2009: $85,680,000).  The non-current bank 
loans are subject to annual review.

The bank loan facility is available for a period beyond 
30 June 2012.  The facility bears interest at 7.68% 
(2009: 7.68%).

Financing facilities available

Total facilities available:
Bank overdrafts 4,000 4,000 
Bank loans 44,160 34,741
Standby letters of credit 11,840 11,259

60,000 50,000 
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18 Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings continued

Consolidated
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Standby letters of credit

The Group has the following guarantees at 30 June 2010:

• Bank guarantee of $9,484,000 has been provided by 
the Westpac Banking Corporation to Comcare for the 
due discharge of its liabilities to pay compensation 
and other amounts under the Safety Rehabilitation and 
Compensation Act 1988;

• A bank guarantee of $1,150,000 has been provided 
by the Westpac Banking Corporation to the Victorian 
WorkCover Authority;

• Other bank guarantees of $1,206,250 have been 
provided by the Westpac Banking Corporation Limited 
to suppliers.

Facilities utilised at balance date:
Bank overdrafts - - 
Bank loans 23,803 15,759
Standby letters of credit 11,840 11,259

35,643 27,018

Facilities not utilised at balance date:
Bank overdrafts 4,000 4,000 
Bank loans 20,357 18,982
Standby letters of credit - - 

24,347 22,982

Total facilities 60,000 50,000
Facilities used at balance date 35,643 27,018 

Facilities unused at balance date 24,347 22,982 

Bank overdrafts

The bank overdrafts within the consolidated entity are 
secured by a guarantee from the Company.  The bank 
overdraft is secured by fixed and floating charges over 
the assets of the consolidated entity. The facilities are 
subject to annual review by the banks concerned and 
have been extended to after 30 June 2012.
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18 Interest Bearing Loans and Borrowings continued

Consolidated
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Assets pledged as security

Included in the balances of freehold land and buildings are 
assets on which mortgages have been granted as security 
over bank loans.  The terms of the mortgages preclude the 
assets being sold or used as security for further mortgages 
without the permission of the mortgage holder.  
The mortgage also requires buildings that form part of the 
security to be fully insured at all times.

The carrying amount of assets pledged as security for 
current and non-current interest bearing liabilities are:

Non-current
First mortgage
– Freehold land and buildings 89,580 83,613
– Plant and equipment 1,855 2,067

Total non-current assets pledged as security 91,435 85,680

Non-cash financing and investment activities

During the financial year, the economic entity acquired 
property, plant and equipment with an aggregate fair value 
of $13,827,000 (2009: $18,387,000) and disposed of 
property, plant and equipment with an aggregate fair value 
of $nil (2009: $nil) by means of finance lease or hire 
purchase arrangements.  These acquisitions and disposals 
are not reflected in the Statement of Cash Flows.

19 Provisions

Current

Employee benefits 11,190 10,514
Make good provision - 110

11,190 10,624

Non-current

Employee benefits 1,618 1,480
Directors’ retirement allowance 504 484

2,122 1,964

No dividends have been provided for the year ended 
30 June 2010.  The extent to which dividends were franked, 
details of the franking account balance at balance date and 
franking credits available for the subsequent financial year 
are disclosed in Note 8.
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19 Provisions continued

Directors’
Make Good Retirement 

Provision Allowance Total
$’000 $’000    $’000

a) Movements in provisions

Movements in each class of provision during the financial 
year, other than provisions relating to employee benefits, 
are set out below:

CONSOLIDATED

At 1 July 2009 110 484 594
Arising during the year - 20 20
Utilised (110) - (110)

At 30 June 2010 - 504 504

Current 2010 - - -
Non-Current 2010 - 504 504

- 504 504

Current 2009 110 - 110
Non-Current 2009 - 484 484

110 484 594

b) Nature and timing of provisions

i) Make good provision

In accordance with the lease agreement, the Group must 
restore the leased premises in Sydney to its original 
condition at the end of the lease term in September 2009.

$110,000 was paid during the year ended 30 June 2010 
in respect to the Group’s obligations.

ii) Long service leave

Refer to Note 2(y) and Note 2(bb) for the relevant 
accounting policy and a discussion of the significant 
estimates and assumptions applied in the measurement 
of this provision.

iii) Directors retirement allowance

Refer to Note 2(y) for the relevant accounting policy and 
a discussion of the significant estimates and assumptions 
applied in the measurement of this provision.
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Consolidated
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

20 Contributed Equity and Reserves

a) Ordinary shares

Contributed equity

72,592,501 (2009: 69,869,710) ordinary shares fully paid 64,528 57,425

64,528 57,425

Effective 1 July 1998, the Corporations legislation abolished 
the concepts of authorised capital and par value shares.
Accordingly the Company does not have authorised capital
nor par value in respect of its issued capital.

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share, either in 
person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company and carry 
the right to receive dividends as declared.

Thousands $’000

Movements in ordinary shares on issue

At 1 July 2008 69,122 55,373

Issued through Employee Share Plan – 
306,000 ordinary shares at $3.02 per share 306 924

Issued through Dividend Re-investment Plan – 
297,509 ordinary shares at $2.79 per share 298 829

Issued through Dividend Re-investment Plan – 
143,924 ordinary shares at $2.08 per share 144 299

At 30 June 2009 69,870 57,425

Issued through Employee Share Plan – 
330,500 ordinary shares at $2.40 per share 331 793

Issued through Dividend Re-investment Plan – 
108,137 ordinary shares at $2.86 per share 108 310

Issued to acquire Pacific Transport – 
500,000 ordinary shares at $2.80 per share 500 1,400

Issued through Dividend Re-investment Plan – 
165,955 ordinary shares at $2.75 per share 166 457

Issued through Share Purchase Plan –  
1,618,199 ordinary shares at $2.56 per share 1,618 4,143

At 30 June 2010 72,593 64,528

(b) Capital management

When managing capital, the Group’s objective is to ensure 
the entity continues as a going concern as well as to maintain 
optimal returns to Shareholders and benefits to other 
stakeholders.  Management also aims to maintain a capital 
structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to 
the entity.  The Group is not subject to any externally 
imposed capital requirements.

During 2010, the Group paid dividends of $8,467,000 
(2009: $10,435,000).
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20 Contributed Equity and Reserves continued

Consolidated
2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Management monitor capital through the gearing ratio 
(net debt/net tangible assets).  The gearing ratios based on 
continuing operations at 30 June were as follows:

Total interest bearing loans and borrowings 64,351 60,233
Less cash and cash equivalents (12,042) (14,717)

Net debt 52,309 45,516
Net tangible assets 134,240 130,607

Gearing ratio 39.0% 34.8%

Nature and purpose of reserves

Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increases in the fair value of land and buildings and decreases to the 
extent that such decreases relate to an increase on the same asset previously recognised in equity. 

Cash flow hedge reserve

This reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that is determined 
to be an effective hedge. 

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations.

21 Derivative Financial Instruments

a) Hedging activities

Derivative financial instruments are used by the Group in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposure 
to fluctuations in interest rates.

The Group has the following interest rate swap agreements in place at 30 June 2010:

– with a notional amount of $20,000,000 whereby it receives a variable rate equal to the AUS-BBR-BBSW and 
pays a fixed interest rate of 7.68% on the notional amount. This agreement commenced in April 2009 and 
expires in March 2012.

– with a notional amount of $4,000,000 NZD whereby it receives a variable rate equal to the NZD-BBR-BID and 
pays a fixed interest rate of 7.97% on the notional amount. This agreement commenced in April 2009 and 
expires in March 2012.

The interest rate swaps require settlement of net interest receivable or payable each 90 days.  All swaps do not 
qualify for hedge accounting and as a result any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly 
to profit or loss.  The net loss is reported within other expenses.

b) Interest rate risk

Information regarding interest rate risk exposure is set out in Note 3.
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Consolidated
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

22 Commitments

The estimated maximum amount of commitments not 
provided for in the accounts as at 30 June 2010 are:

Capital expenditure commitments

The aggregate amount of contracts for 
capital expenditure on plant and equipment 
due no later than one year 14,974 11,054

Lease rental commitments

Operating lease and hire commitments:
– Not later than one year 6,916 5,626
– Later than one year but not later than five years 13,433 9,000
– Later than five years 11,141 -

31,490 14,626

The consolidated entity leases property under non-cancellable 
operating leases expiring from one to ten years.  
Leases generally provide the consolidated entity with a right 
of renewal, at which time all terms are renegotiated.  
Lease payments comprise a base amount plus an incremental 
contingent rental.  Contingent rentals are based on either 
movements in the Consumer Price Index or operating criteria.

Finance lease commitments are disclosed in Note 18.

23 Contingent Liabilities

Guarantees

Cross guarantees given by the Company and its wholly owned controlled entities are described in Note 24. 

Legal claim

There are a number of minor legal actions pending against companies within the consolidated entity.  
Liability has not been admitted and the claims will be defended.  The Directors do not believe these actions will result in 
any significant cost to the consolidated entity. 

Tax related contingencies

The Australian Tax Office (ATO) has issued draft legislation relating to stages three and four of the Taxation of Financial
Arrangements (TOFA).  The draft legislation proposes changes to the tax timing treatment of hedging transactions.  
The Group is currently assessing the possible impact, if any, that these changes will have on the Group’s tax position.  
No liability has been recognised in respect of this.
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24 Deed of Cross Guarantee

Pursuant to ASIC Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) dated 13 August 1998, the wholly owned subsidiaries listed below are
relieved from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and lodgement of financial reports, and Directors'
reports.  It is a condition of the Class Order that the Company and each of the subsidiaries enter into a Deed of Cross 
Guarantee.  The effect of the Deed is that the Company guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in the event
of winding up of any of the subsidiaries under certain provisions of the Corporations Act 2001.  If a winding up occurs under
other provisions of the Act, the Company will only be liable in the event that after six months any creditor has not been paid
in full.  The subsidiaries have also given similar guarantees in the event that the Company is wound up.

The subsidiaries subject to the Deed are:

Reid Bros Pty Ltd 
Kain & Shelton Pty Ltd
K&S Freighters Pty Ltd
K&S Group Administrative Services Pty Ltd
Kain & Shelton (Agencies) Pty Ltd
K&S Transport Management Pty Ltd
Blakistons-Gibb Pty Ltd
K&S Logistics Pty Ltd 
K&S Project Services Pty Ltd
K&S Integrated Distribution Pty Ltd
K&S Group Pty Ltd
DTM Holdings (No. 2) Pty Ltd
Alento Pty Ltd
DTM Holdings Pty Ltd
DTM Pty Ltd
K&S Freighters Limited *
Cochrane’s Transport Limited *  

* Both K&S Freighters Limited and Cochrane’s Transport Limited are New Zealand entities.

A consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
consolidated Statement of Financial Position, comprising the 
Company and subsidiaries which are a party to the Deed, 
after eliminating all transactions between parties to the Deed 
of Cross Guarantee, at 30 June 2010 is set out below:

Closed Group
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Profit before income tax 26,317 25,007
Income tax expense (7,578) (6,857)

Profit after income tax 18,739 18,150

Retained profits at the beginning of the year 79,174 71,459
Dividends provided for or paid (8,467) (10,435)

Retained earnings at the end of the year 89,446 79,174
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Closed Group
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Statement of Financial Position

Cash 12,042 14,717
Trade and other receivables 56,747 47,127
Inventories 2,696 3,118
Prepayments 4,809 4,262

Total current assets 76,294 69,224

Other receivables 2,093 1,352
Investment in associates - 31
Property, plant and equipment 197,169 185,808
Intangibles 44,761 25,622
Deferred tax assets 5,776 5,519

Total non-current assets 249,799 218,332

Total assets 326,093 287,556

Trade and other payables 44,596 36,998
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16,462 16,927
Current tax liabilities 1,270 1,037
Provisions 11,190 10,624
Derivatives 1,123 1,791

Total current liabilities 74,641 67,377

Other payables 4,340 3,047
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 47,889 43,306
Deferred tax liabilities 18,032 15,633
Provisions 2,122 1,964

Total non-current liabilities 72,383 63,950

Total liabilities 147,024 131,327

Net assets 179,069 156,229

Contributed equity 64,528 57,425
Reserves 25,095 19,630
Retained earnings 89,446 79,174

Total equity 179,069 156,229

24 Deed of Cross Guarantee continued
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Class of Country of
Share Incorporation % Equity Interest

2010 2009

25 Controlled Entities

Particulars in relation to controlled entities

Name
K&S Corporation Limited

Controlled Entities
Reid Bros Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 100
Kain & Shelton Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 100
K&S Freighters Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 100
K&S Group Administrative Services Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 100
Kain & Shelton (Agencies) Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 100
K&S Transport Management Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 100
Blakistons-Gibb Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 100
K&S Logistics Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 100
K&S Integrated Distribution Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 100
K&S Group Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 100
DTM Holdings (No. 2) Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 100
Alento Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 100
DTM Holdings Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 100
DTM Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 100
K&S Project Services Pty Ltd Ord Australia 100 75
K&S Freighters Limited Ord New Zealand 100 100
Cochrane’s Transport Limited Ord New Zealand 100 100

26 Related Party Disclosures

DIRECTORS

The names of each person holding the position of Director of K&S Corporation Limited during the financial year and up to 
the date of signing the financial report are Messrs. T Johnson, R Nicholson, G Boulton, B Grubb, R Smith and L Winser.

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no Director has entered into a material contract with the Company or the 
consolidated entity since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving Directors' 
interests subsisting at year end.

Other transactions with the Company or its Controlled Entities

The estate of Mr A A Scott, the major Shareholder of the following entities which provide goods and services to the 
economic entity. 

AA Scott Pty Ltd Northern Territory Freight Services Pty Ltd
Ascot Haulage (NT) Pty Ltd Scott’s Agencies Pty Ltd
The Border Watch Pty Ltd Scott’s Management Pty Ltd
Fidler & Webb Pty Ltd Scott’s Transport Industries Pty Ltd
Scott Corporation Limited First Radio Pty Ltd

Mr Grubb has an interest as Director of AA Scott Pty Ltd, Scott’s Transport Industries Pty Ltd, Ascot Haulage (NT) Pty Ltd,
Northern Territory Freight Services Pty Ltd, Scott’s Agencies Pty Ltd, The Border Watch Pty Ltd and Scott’s Management Pty
Ltd.  Transactions with these companies include sale and purchase of cartage services, advertising services, sale and purchase
of fuel and other related products.

First Radio Pty Ltd has an interest in a transport facility in Adelaide which the Company rents on a commercial basis.  Rent in
2010 was $352,170 (2009: $337,016).

Mr Johnson has an interest as a Director of AA Scott Pty Ltd.

Mr Johnson has an interest as Chairman and Mr Grubb as Non-Executive Director in the publicly listed company Scott 
Corporation Limited.  Transactions with this company during 2010 included sales of $24,717 (2009: $80,567) and purchase
of transport related services totalling $4,537,894 (2009: $326,805).

The aggregate amount of dealings with these companies during 2010 were as follows:
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Purchases                              Sales
2010 2009  2010 2009

$ $  $ $

AA Scott Pty Ltd - - - -       

Ascot Haulage (NT) Pty Ltd 939,673 373,152 - -

Northern Territory Freight Services Pty Ltd 376,435 1,436,959 49,449 52,141

Scott’s Transport Industries Pty Ltd 179,593 180,905 1,152,772 1,710,292

Scott’s Agencies Pty Ltd 1,404,117 852,362 - -

Fidler and Webb Ltd - 37,936 - -

The Border Watch Pty Ltd 2,831 - - - 

A Director of the Company, Mr Johnson, had an interest 
during 2009/10 as a partner in Johnson, Winter & Slattery, 
a firm of solicitors.  This firm renders legal advice to the 
economic entity.  The aggregate amount of dealings with 
this firm during 2010 was $75,890 (2009: $183,297) in 
professional service fees.   

The Managing Director of all wholly owned controlled 
entities, Mr L Winser, has an interest as Director of Smart
Logistics Pty Ltd (an associated entity).  Transactions with this 
company include the sale of cartage.  The aggregate amount 
of sales to this company during 2010 was $29,289,000 
(2009: $32,839,000).

The Managing Director of all wholly owned controlled entities, 
Mr L Winser, has an interest as Director of Dairy Transport 
Logistics Ltd (an associated entity).  Transactions with this 
company include the sale of cartage.  The aggregate amount 
of sales to this company during 2010 was $6,108,000 
(2009: $6,587,000).

Consolidated
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Amounts payable to and receivable from Directors and 
their Director related entities at balance date arising from 
these transactions were as follows:

Current receivables (included within trade debtors)
Scott’s Transport Industries Pty Ltd 154 84
Northern Territory Freight Services Pty Ltd 2 15
Smart Logistics Pty Ltd 1,839 3,039
Dairy Transport Logistics Ltd 352 335

No provision for doubtful debts has been 
recognised in respect of these balances as they 
are considered recoverable.

Current payables (included within trade payables)
Ascot Haulage (NT) Pty Ltd 139 -
Scott’s Transport Industries Pty Ltd 4 -
Northern Territory Freight Services Pty Ltd - 104

Wholly-owned Group
Details of interests in wholly-owned controlled entities 
are set out at Note 25.  

26 Related Party Disclosures continued
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26 Related Party Disclosures continued

Parent
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Details of dealings with these entities are set out below:

Balances with entities within the wholly-owned group

The aggregate amounts receivable from, and payable 
to, wholly-owned controlled entities by the Company 
at balance date:

Receivables
– Current 99,003 88,644
– Non-current 17,961 17,961

116,964 106,605

Payables – current
– Other loans 64,587 63,181

64,587 63,181

Terms and conditions of transactions within 
the wholly-owned group

Sales to and purchases from within the wholly-owned group 
are made at arm’s length.  Terms and conditions of the 
tax funding agreement are set out in Note 6.  Outstanding 
balances at year-end are unsecured and interest free.

Dividends

Dividends received or due and receivable by the 
Company from wholly-owned controlled entities amount 
to $10,000,000 (2009:$10,000,000).

Consolidated
2010 2009

DIRECTORS’ SHARE TRANSACTIONS

Shareholdings

Aggregate number of shares held by Directors and 
their Director related entities at balance date:

– Ordinary shares 967,595 881,100
– Preference shares - -

All share transactions were with the parent Company, 
K&S Corporation Limited.

$’000 $’000
Dividends

Aggregate amount of dividends paid in respect of shares held 
by Directors or their Director related entities during the year:

– Ordinary shares 108 132
– Preference shares - -

Directors' transactions in shares and share options

Purchases of shares by Directors and Director related entities 
are set out in Note 27.

Ultimate parent entity

The immediate parent entity and ultimate controlling 
entity of K&S Corporation Ltd is AA Scott Pty Ltd, a 
company incorporated in South Australia.
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27 Key Management Personnel

a) Details of Key Management Personnel

i) Directors

Mr T Johnson Non-Executive Chairman
Mr G Boulton Non-Executive Deputy Chairman
Mr R Smith Non-Executive
Mr R Nicholson Non-Executive 
Mr B Grubb Non-Executive
Mr L Winser Managing Director

ii) Executives

Mr B Walsh Chief Financial Officer
Mr C Bright Group Legal Counsel & Company Secretary
Mr S Fanning General Manager – K&S Freighters
Mr G Wooller General Manager – Full Load, Fleet & Bulk
Mr P Sarant General Manager – DTM
Ms K Evans National Human Resources Manager
Ms C De Gois Chief Information Officer

Consolidated
2010 2009

$ $

b) Compensation for Key Management Personnel

Short-term 2,416,218 1,993,773
Long-term 38,989 35,689
Post employment 224,168 223,658

2,679,375 2,253,120

c) Loans to Key Management Personnel

Details of aggregates of loans to 
Key Management Personnel are as follows:

Balance at Balance at Number
Beginning of Period Write-off End of Period in Group

Total $’000  $’000 $’000

2010 224 - 346 6
2009 116 - 224 5

There are no loans to any Key Management Personnel 
above $100,000 in the reporting period.

Loans to Key Management Personnel are made pursuant 
to the K&S Corporation Limited Employee Share Plan 
(“Plan”).  As part of the Plan, loans are interest free with 
K&S Corporation Limited, to fund the purchase of shares 
in the Company.  Shares issued under the Plan are 
subject to a holding lock until the loan is repaid in full.  
Non-Executive Directors are not eligible to participate in 
the Plan.

No other loans are made to any 
Key Management Personnel.

d) Remuneration options: granted and vested during 
the year

K&S Corporation Limited does not operate any option 
based schemes for its executives, employees or Directors.
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27 Key Management Personnel continued

e) Shareholding of Key Management Personnel
Balance Balance 

1 July 2009 Net Change 30 June 2010
Shares held in K&S Corporation Limited: Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary

30 June 2010

Non-Executive Directors
T Johnson 195,749 14,339 210,088
G Boulton 138,403 11,855 150,258
R Smith 10,000 7,819 17,819
R Nicholson 15,128 6,514 21,642
B Grubb 107,317 - 107,317

Executive Director
L Winser 414,503 45,968 460,471

Other Key Management Personnel
B Walsh 53,483 20,377 73,860
C Bright 12,000 7,000 19,000
S Fanning 20,000 10,000 30,000
G Wooller 22,168 10,224 32,392
P Sarant 10,000 10,000 20,000
K Evans 10,000 5,000 15,000
C De Gois - - -

Total 1,008,751 149,096 1,157,847

Balance Balance 
1 July 2008 Net Change 30 June 2009

Shares held in K&S Corporation Limited: Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary

30 June 2009

Non-Executive Directors
T Johnson 182,631 13,118 195,749
G Boulton 130,160 8,243 138,403
R Smith 5,000 5,000 10,000
R Nicholson 14,226 902 15,128
B Grubb 107,317 - 107,317

Executive Director
L Winser 392,942 21,561 414,503

Other Key Management Personnel
B Walsh 41,309 12,174 53,483
C Bright 5,000 7,000 12,000
S Fanning 10,000 10,000 20,000
G Wooller 7,000 15,168 22,168
P Sarant - 10,000 10,000
C De Gois - - -

Total 895,585 103,166 998,751

All equity transactions with specified Directors and 
specified Executives have been entered into under terms 
and conditions no more favourable than those the entity 
would have adopted if dealing at arm’s length.
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28 Events Subsequent to Balance Date

On 8 July 2010, K&S Corporation Limited acquired the Perth based Regal Transport Group (“Regal”).  Regal was formed 
in March 2009 with the merger of N&L Transport and Strategic Transport Services Pty Ltd.  At the time of acquisition, 
Regal generated annual revenues of $50 million and employed over 120 people.  The Regal acquisition will extend the 
footprint achieved by the Pacific Transport acquisition to the oil, gas and resources sector of Western Australia.  Details of 
the acquisition are disclosed in Note 30.    

On 24 August 2010, the Directors of K&S Corporation Limited declared a final dividend on ordinary shares in respect of the
2010 financial year.  The total amount of the dividend is $5,147,975, which represents a fully franked dividend of 7.0 cents
per share.  The dividend is payable on 29 October 2010 and has not been provided for in the 30 June 2010 financial 
statements.  The Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) will apply to the final dividend and the issue price for shares under the
DRP will be based on the weighted average trading price of K&S shares in the five business days ending on 15 October 2010
(the record date of the final dividend), less a discount of 2.5%.   

Other than the matters above, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this
report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company,
to affect significantly the operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the
consolidated entity in future financial years.

Consolidated
2010 2009

$ $

29 Auditor’s Remuneration

The auditor of K&S Corporation Limited is Ernst & Young.

Audit services:

Audit and review of the statutory financial reports 154,000 149,500

154,000 149,500 

Other services:

Other services – Ernst & Young:
– GST review 10,000 15,000 

10,000 15,000 
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30 Business Combination
Acquisition of Pacific Transport

On 13 January 2010, K&S Corporation Limited acquired the business and assets of Pacific Transport (“Pacific”).  
Pacific’s business is focused on the Perth to Broome and Derby regions of Western Australia. 

The consideration transferred was $25,395,000 and comprised an issue of equity instruments and cash.  The Group issued
500,000 ordinary shares with a fair value of $2.80 each. Provisional fair value of identifiable net assets is $6,194,000.

Key factors contributing to the $19,201,000 of goodwill are the synergies existing within the acquired business and 
synergies expected to be achieved as a result of combining Pacific with the rest of the Group.  The acquisition will also give 
the Group a footprint to target the oil, gas and resource sectors of Western Australia.

The provisional fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities is as follows:

Fair Value at
Acquisition Date

$’000

Plant and equipment 6,160
Inventories 60
Prepayments 134
Deferred tax asset 68

6,422

Provision for employee entitlements (228)

Provisional fair value of identifiable net assets 6,194
Goodwill arising on acquisition 19,201

25,395

Acquisition-date fair-value of consideration transferred
Shares issued 1,400
Cash paid 23,995

Consideration transferred 25,395

Direct costs relating to the acquisition 968

Cash outflow on acquisition (23,995)

The consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
includes sales revenue and net profit for the year end 
30 June 2010 of $10,773,000 and $805,000 respectively, 
as a result of the acquisition of Pacific Transport.  Had the 
acquisition of Pacific Transport occurred at the beginning 
of the reporting period, the consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income would have included revenue and 
profit of $22,873,000 and $1,923,000 respectively.
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Acquisition of Regal Transport

On 8 July 2010, K&S Corporation Limited acquired the Perth based Regal Transport Group (“Regal”).  Regal was formed 
in March 2009 with the merger of N&L Transport and Strategic Transport Services Pty Ltd.  At the time of acquisition, 
Regal generated annual revenues of $50 million and employed over 120 people.  The Regal acquisition will extend the 
footprint achieved by the Pacific Transport acquisition to the oil, gas and resource sectors of Western Australia. 

The consideration transferred was $41,845,000 and comprised an issue of equity instruments and cash.  The Group issued
950,000 ordinary shares with a fair value of $2.80 each. Provisional fair value of identifiable net assets is $15,629,000.

Key factors contributing to the $26,216,000 of goodwill are the synergies existing within the acquired business and 
synergies expected to be achieved as a result of combining Regal Transport with Pacific Transport and the rest of the Group.
The Regal acquisition will extend the footprint achieved by the Pacific Transport acquisition to the oil, gas and resource 
sectors of Western Australia.

The provisional fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities is as follows:

Fair Value at
Acquisition Date

$’000

Plant and equipment 17,060
Trade and other receivables 7,495
Prepayments 67
Deferred tax assets 224

24,846

Trade and other payables (3,217)
Interest bearing loans and borrowings (5,253)
Provision for employee entitlements (747)

(9,217)

Provisional fair value of identifiable net assets 15,629
Goodwill arising on acquisition 26,216

41,845

Acquisition-date fair-value of consideration transferred
Shares issued 2,660
Cash paid 39,185

Consideration transferred 41,845

Direct costs relating to the acquisition 173

Cash outflow on acquisition (39,185)

30 Business Combination continued
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Parent
2010 2009
$’000 $’000

31 Parent Entity Information

Current assets 99,003 88,644
Total assets 151,125 140,548

Current liabilities (66,530) (64,610)
Total liabilities (67,163) (65,223)

Issued capital 64,528 57,425
Asset revaluation reserve 161 161
Retained earnings 19,273 17,739

Total Shareholders’ equity 83,962 75,325

Profit after tax of the parent entity 10,000 10,004
Total comprehensive income of the parent entity 10,000 10,004

Guarantees

Cross guarantees given by the Company and its wholly owned controlled entities are described in Note 24. 

Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities of the Company and its wholly owned controlled entities are outlined in Note 23.
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In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of K&S Corporation Limited, we state that:

In the opinion of the Directors:

a) the financial report of the Company and of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including:

i) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and 

ii) complying with Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) 
and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

b) the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards 
as disclosed in Note 2 (b).

c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable.

d) this declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the 
Directors in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial period 
ending 30 June 2010.

e) as at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of 
the Closed Group identified in Note 24 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which 
they are or may become subject to, by virtue of the Deed of Cross Guarantee. 

Dated at Mount Gambier this 24th day of August 2010.

On behalf of the Board:

T Johnson
Chairman

L Winser
Managing Director
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In relation to our audit of the financial report of K&S Corporation Limited for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2010, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of 
the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of 
professional conduct.

Ernst & Young

David T Sanders
Partner

Adelaide
24 August 2010

Liability Limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of K&S Corporation Limited, which comprises the 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2010, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant 
accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising
the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in
accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and
the Corporations Act 2001.  This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates
that are reasonable in the circumstances.  In Note 2, the directors also state that the financial report, comprising
the financial statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  These Auditing Standards require that we comply 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial report.  The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments,
we consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls.  An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Independence

In conducting our audit we have met the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.  We have
given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a copy of which is included 
in the directors’ report.  In addition to our audit of the financial report, we were engaged to undertake the 
services disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  The provision of these services has not impaired 
our independence.

Liability Limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion: 

1 the financial report of K&S Corporation Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position at 30 June 2010 and of 
their performance for the year ended on that date; and

ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

2 the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 21 to 25 of the directors’ report for the year 
ended 30 June 2010.  The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of 
the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of K&S Corporation Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010, 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Ernst & Young

David T Sanders
Partner

Adelaide  
24 August 2010

Liability Limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation



DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Ordinary Shares                                                                      Number of Shareholders

1-1,000 Shares 295
1,001 - 5,000 Shares 851
5,001 - 10,000 Shares 337
10,001 - 100,000 Shares 307
100,001 and more Shares 39

1,829

43 shareholders hold less than a marketable parcel (190 shares).

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

Name                                                                                                              Number of Ordinary Shares Held %

1 AA Scott Pty Ltd 40,594,359 55.19
2 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 2,817,354 3.83
3 Bell Potter Nominees Ltd 2,726,732 3.71
4 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 1,784,448 2.43
5 Ascot Media Investments Pty Ltd 1,543,727 2.10
6 National Nominees Limited 905,565 1.23
7 Mrs Zena Kaye Winser 790,892 1.08
8 Tribridge Holdings Pty Ltd 750,000 1.02
9 Winscott Investments Pty Ltd 746,564 1.02
10 Mr Eric Joseph Roughana 681,859 0.93
11 Sabadin Petroleum Pty Ltd 618,348 0.84
12 Australian Reward Investment Alliance 511,172 0.70
13 Adrian Keith & Samantha Jane Crook 500,000 0.68

<Pacific Group Inv Share A/c>
14 John Stepnell & Valerie Stepnell & Mark Stepnell 421,500 0.57

<Stepnell Super Fund A/c> 
15 Ardmore Nominees Pty Ltd 356,893 0.49
16 John Legh Winser 345,339 0.47
17 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 340,718 0.46
18 Mr William Clifton Anderson 301,530 0.41
19 Almora Holdings Pty Ltd 241,149 0.33
20 ANZ Nominees Limited 239,536 0.33

57,217,685 77.80

AA Scott Pty Limited is the registered holder of all the 6% Non Redeemable Cumulative Preference Shares, 
participating to 8%.

The 20 largest Shareholders hold 77.8% of the ordinary shares of the Company, and 100% of the preference shares.

The following is an extract from the Company’s Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 24th August 2010:

Number % of Class

Estate of Mr A A Scott 45,606,970 64.87

VOTING RIGHTS

The voting rights are as follows:

Preference Shares: Nil
Ordinary Shares: 1 vote per share
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Geelong
325 Thompson Road
North Geelong, Victoria 3215
Phone: (03) 5278 5777
Facsimile: (03) 5278 5230

Ballarat
c/o Laminex Industries
16 Trewin Street
Wendouree, Victoria 3355
Phone: (03) 5338 1710
Facsimile: (03) 5338 1136

Sydney
2 Hope Street
Enfield, New South Wales 2136
Phone: (02) 9735 2400
Facsimile: (02) 9735 2499

Brisbane
34 Postle Street
Coopers Plains, Queensland 4108
Phone: (07) 3137 4400
Facsimile: (07) 3137 4441 

Rockhampton
197-206 Wade Street
Parkhurst, Queensland 4702
Phone: (07) 4936 2272
Facsimile: (07) 4936 2972

Bundaberg
Old Qunaba Mill, Grange Road
Bundaberg, Queensland 4670
Phone: (07) 4159 2150
Facsimile: (07) 4159 1825

Perth
16-30 Sheffield Road
Kewdale,Western Australia 6105
Phone: (08) 6466 6600
Facsimile: (08) 6466 6699

2-4 Noble Street
Kewdale, Western Australia 6105
Phone: (08) 9353 4033
Facsimile: (08) 9353 4019

Bunbury
91 Moore Road
Dardanup,Western Australia 6236
Phone: (08) 9725 4400
Facsimile: (08) 9725 4949

Adelaide
Cnr Bedford Street & Kapara Road
Gillman, South Australia 5013
Phone:(08) 7224 5400
Facsimile:(08) 7224 5497

Mount Gambier
141-147 Jubilee Highway West
Mount Gambier, 
South Australia 5290
Phone: (08) 8721 1700
Facsimile: (08) 8721 1799

REGISTERED OFFICE
141-147 Jubilee Highway West
Mount Gambier 
South Australia 5290
Phone: (08) 8721 1700
Facsimile: (08) 8721 1799

CORPORATE OFFICE
Cnr Boundary & Palmers Roads
Truganina, Victoria 3029
Phone: (03) 8744 3500
Facsimile: (03) 8744 3599

STOCK EXCHANGE
The Company is on the official 
list of the Australian Stock 
Exchange Limited.  The Company’s 
Home Exchange is Australian Stock
Exchange (Adelaide) Limited.

SHARE REGISTRY
c/o Computershare Investor 
Services Pty Ltd
Level 5, 115 Grenfell Street
Adelaide, South Australia 5000
Phone: (08) 8236 2300
Facsimile: (08) 8236 2305

GPO Box 1903
Adelaide  SA  5001

Enquiries within Australia: 
1300 556 161

Enquiries outside Australia:
61 3 9415 5000

Email:
web.queries@computershare.com.au

Website:  www.computershare.com

WEBSITE
www.ksgroup.com.au

OPERATIONS
ROAD, RAIL AND SEA

Melbourne
Cnr Boundary & Palmers Roads
Truganina, Victoria 3029
Phone: (03) 8744 3700
Facsimile: (03) 8744 3799

Portland
53 Fitzgerald Street
Portland, Victoria 3305
Phone: (03) 5523 4144
Facsimile: (03) 5523 5647

New Zealand
Cambridge
3847 Te Awamutu Road
Cambridge, New Zealand
Phone: (07) 827 6002
Facsimile: (07) 827 5606

Mount Maunganui
35 Portside Drive 
Mount Maunganui, New Zealand
Phone: (07) 575 8265
Facsimile: (07) 575 8480

Napier
Pandora Road 
Ahuriri, Napier, New Zealand
Phone: (06) 835 0162
Facsimile: (06) 835 0192

Auckland
4 Tinley Street 
Auckland, New Zealand
Phone: (09) 307 0061
Facsimile: (09) 307 0027

PAPER SERVICES

Maryvale
Maryvale Road
Maryvale via Morwell, 
Victoria 3840
Phone: (03) 5134 1211
Facsimile: (03) 5136 0217

Shoalhaven
340 Bolong Road
Bomaderry, 
New South Wales 2541
Phone: (02) 4428 6473
Facsimile: (02) 4428 6493

Townsville
121 Hubert Street
South Townsville, 
Queensland 4810
Phone: (07) 4772 5651
Facsimile: (07) 4772 7433

Fisherman Islands
67-68 Bishop Drive
Fisherman Islands, 
Queensland 4178
Phone: (07) 3137 4480
Facsimile: (07) 3137 4489

DTM

Sydney
2 Hope Street
Enfield, 
New South Wales 2136
Phone: (02) 9735 2300
Facsimile: (02) 9735 2399

Melbourne
2-10 Gaine Road
Dandenong Sth, Victoria 3175
Phone: (03) 9215 4700
Facsimile: (03) 9215 4799

Adelaide
128-138 Bedford Street
Gillman, South Australia 5013
Phone: (08) 7224 5480
Facsimile: (08) 7224 5496

Brisbane
34 Postle Street
Coopers Plains, 
Queensland 4108
Phone: (07) 3137 4406
Facsimile: (07) 3137 4441

Perth
37 Hector Street
Osborne Park, 
Western Australia 6107
Phone: (08) 9446 1250
Facsimile: (08) 9244 1124

Pacific Transport

Midvale
15 Meliador Way
Midvale, 
Western Australia 6936
Phone: (08) 9374 3777
Facsimile: (08) 9374 3799

Broome
9 Archer Street
Broome, 
Western Australia 6936
Phone: (08) 9192 6599
Facsimile: (08) 9192 6588

Derby
23 Rodgers Street
Derby, 
Western Australia 6728
Phone: (08) 9193 1771
Facsimile: (08) 9192 6588

Regal Transport
5 Kalamunda Road
South Guildford, 
Western Australia 6935
Phone: (08) 9279 6922
Facsimile: (08) 9279 6878

K&S Project Services
15 Meliador Way
Midvale, 
Western Australia 6936
Phone: (08) 9374 3777
Facsimile: (08) 9374 3799
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